



THE NEW REPUBLIC *A Journal of Politics and the Arts*, Vol. 173, No. 13, Issue 3168, September 27, 1975. Published weekly (except the issues of January 4, July 12, August 9, August 23) and distributed by The New Republic, 1244 19th Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20036. Phone 331-7494. Single copy, 50¢; Yearly subscriptions, \$17; foreign, \$20; students, \$10. Send all remittances and correspondence about subscriptions, undelivered copies and changes of address to Subscription Department, The New Republic, 381 West Center Street, Marion, Ohio 43302. Copyright 1975 by The New Republic, Inc. Item g. Second class postage paid at Washington, DC and additional mailing offices. Indexed in Reader's Guide. The prestudy for the Portrait of John F. Kennedy, on the cover, Copyright © 1971 by James Wyeth.

Contents

- Cover: John F. Kennedy—James Wyeth
- 7 Comment
The Ghost Will Not Rest
- 9 The Warren Commission in its Own Words
—Tad Szulc
- 12 The Documents
- 48 The Aftermath—Eliot Marshall
- 52 Films—Stanley Kauffmann
- 53 Comedy and the Silver Screen
—Gerald Mast
- 57 Books—Reviews by Millicent Bell, Neil Harris,
George Core, Frank E. Vandiver
- 64 Reconsideration: Paul Bowles' *The Sheltering Sky*
—O.B. Hardison, Jr.
- 65 The Back of the Book—Roger Rosenblatt
- 67 Correspondence

The Staff

Chairman, Editorial Board—Martin Peretz
Publisher—Robert J. Myers
Managing Editor—David Sanford
Literary Editor—Roger Rosenblatt
Senior Editor—John Osborne
Associate Editor—Eliot Marshall
Assistant to the Editors—Gwen Somers
Assistant to the Literary Editor—
Cheryl Holt
Staff Writer—Lincoln Caplan
Contributing Editors—Robert Brustein,
Robert Coles, Joseph Featherstone, Gerald
W. Johnson, Nathan Lewin, Roger Morris,
Peter J. Ognibene, John Seelye, Tad Szulc,
Melville J. Ulmer, Michael Walzer,
Paul R. Wieck
Films and Theater—Stanley Kauffmann
West Coast Editor—Peter Barnes
Production Manager—Ilene Briggan Kahane
Assistant Production Manager—
Elise D. Ritter
Circulation Manager—
Elizabeth Scanlan O'Brien
Business Manager—Pearl Wilmer Ramsey
Assistant Business Manager—
Constance Cole Twining
New Republic Feature Syndicate—
Leslie B. Seagrave
Advertising and Promotion—
Beth W. Newburger
Receptionist—Ruby McGowan
Advertising Representative—
E. Laurence White, 50 E. 42nd St.,
NYC 10017, (212) 986-6210

The Ghost Will Not Rest

The Warren Commission, appointed by President Johnson to investigate the assassination of his predecessor, John F. Kennedy, finished its study and published its 27-volume report 11 years ago this week. Claiming that it and its staff had examined all available evidence and leads, the Commission concluded that Lee Harvey Oswald, psychologically troubled and acting alone, had killed the President. It also found, then, nothing to support the hypothesis of a conspiracy to assassinate Kennedy. In this, its considered judgment was fully consistent with that of the FBI and other intelligence agencies.

The Commission, composed of seven politically eminent and powerful men, hoped that the results of its deliberations would be accepted by the American people as the full and final truth. But a shadow of doubt has always hung over the investigation: the murders of Martin Luther King, Jr. and President Kennedy's brother Robert in 1968, even the attempted assassination of Gov. George Wallace, fed the suspicions. Though not in the context of the Kennedy assassination, various revelations implicating both the FBI and the CIA in criminal activity, on their own and in association with gangsters, fired the imagination of the doubters. During the last decade, moreover, a cohort of "assassination buffs" has developed a body of material poking holes in the Commission's work here, establishing alternative explanations there. The ghost of John Kennedy, it seems, simply will not rest.

Gradually the National Archives declassified and made available to public scrutiny a mass of Warren Commission raw materials that are not part of the original report; the most interesting of these items were released last March and April. What is in the Archives has received far less attention than it deserves. The mass of information does not in itself refute the Commission's ultimate judgment about Oswald's responsibility for the crime. We do not have suppressed evidence pointing to another killer.

Nonetheless the materials we have examined point to a hitherto unrevealed, but tortured and antagonistic relationship between the Commission and the FBI. This 10-month struggle, the study below indicates, gravely distorted the investigation in various ways. Only now, for example, do we know that the FBI concealed from the Commission that 10 days before the assassination Oswald wrote the

The Warren Commission In its Own Words

by Tad Szulc

Exactly 11 years ago—on September 27, 1964—the President's Commission on the Assassination of President John F. Kennedy issued its final report, concluding that Lee Harvey Oswald was the assassin, that he acted alone rather than as part of a conspiracy, and that there never had been any link between him and his killer, Jack Ruby. After nearly 10 months of intense labor, however, the Commission, presided over by the Chief Justice of the United States, Earl Warren, was unable to come up with a motive for the Dallas assassination. Its principal conclusion: "Many factors were undoubtedly involved in Oswald's motivation for the assassination, and the Commission does not believe that it can ascribe to him any one motive or group of motives."

We still really do not know what happened in Dallas on Friday, November 22, 1963. Throughout the past decade, increasing doubts have been raised about the validity of the conclusions reached by the Warren Commission. Innumerable theories have been constructed concerning Oswald, Ruby, their possible relationship, the likelihood of conspiracies, the possibility that the Oswald arrested in Dallas was not the "real" Oswald, that there may have been more than one assassin, and so on. Allegations have been made that the CIA and/or the FBI had participated in or covered up an assassination plot. As recently as last June, the Rockefeller Commission, investigating the CIA's domestic activities, felt obliged to assert that "there was no credible evidence of any CIA involvement."

There are serious reasons to question not only the Warren Commission's conclusions, but, more importantly, the quality and integrity of the entire investigation as it was carried out between December, 1963 and September, 1964 by the seven Commissioners, carefully chosen for political balance and reputation: Chief Justice Warren, Sen. Richard Russell (D, Ga.), Sen. John Sherman Cooper (R, Ky.), Rep. Gerald Ford (R, Mich.), Rep. Hale Boggs (D, La.), former CIA Director Allen W. Dulles, and John J. McCloy, a leading New York corporate attorney. Of the group, four are now dead: Warren, Russell, Boggs and Dulles. Ford is President of the United States. On September 5, a gun was pointed at him.

If the investigation was as inadequate and incompetent as is suggested by the Commission's own internal documents, once Top Secret and now declassified, it is legitimate to question the specific conclusions of the

report.

The transcripts of the Commission's executive sessions, staff memoranda (including the highly revealing transcript of a session with a panel of psychiatrists), and other internal documents reveal the Commissioners to be consumed by doubts and fears; troubled by their own ignorance; suspicious of the investigatory work performed for them by the FBI and the CIA; lacking clear direction; worried about a competing inquiry in Texas; and finally suffering from a stunning lack of confidence in their own ability to produce a report that would be credible to the American people, the world and, for that matter, credible to themselves.

The fear of being disbelieved and of being trapped into endorsing the prefabricated conclusions of the FBI and other intelligence agencies—whose instinct to protect themselves was already apparent—is a constant theme running through the Commission's secret deliberations. Anxiety was their leit-motif, concealed, to be sure, in the final published report. Unable to disprove that there may have been a conspiracy, the Commission supported the FBI conclusion that Oswald was the lone assassin. The book was to close the case and be its official history, or so it was thought.

The Commission, as it turns out, was justified in suspecting the FBI. Only this month FBI Director Clarence Kelley admitted that an important piece of evidence—a hand-delivered letter to the FBI from Oswald 10 days before the assassination threatening to blow up the Dallas police station—had been withheld and then destroyed. What else, one has a right to ask, was withheld and destroyed?

The Commission transcripts and ancillary material do more than paint a vivid portrait of uncertain and confused men. They show that a series of critical facts, decisions and judgments have been kept away from the American people. Here are highlights culled from a study of the 13 transcripts of the Commission's executive sessions:

- Keenly aware of domestic political considerations, Warren was determined to complete the investigation before the onset of the 1964 presidential campaign in which Lyndon Johnson would seek election in his own right. On January 21, 1964 he told the Commission: "I think if this [the work on the report] should go along too far and get into the middle of a campaign year it

would be very bad for the country to have this thing discussed at that particular time." The Commission then decided to set a secret June 1 target date. This alone discredits the claims of the Commission that, indifferent to extraneous pressures, it was interested only in the truth of what happened in Dallas.

- Warren's initial position was that the Commission needed no investigators of its own, no subpoena power to call witnesses or obtain materials, and no power to grant immunity from prosecution. His concept was that "our job here is essentially one for the evaluation of gathering evidence . . . We can start with the premise that we can rely upon the reports of the various agencies. . . ." Led by Sen. Russell, however, the Commission overruled Warren on subpoenas. But it never really freed itself from the informational monopoly held by these agencies, and particularly the FBI. The Commission—and Deputy Attorney General Nicholas Katzenbach—were convinced from the outset that the FBI was deliberately leaking information to the press to construct the anti-conspiracy case rapidly and decisively in the public mind; moreover, the Commission privately accused the FBI of attempting to impose its own anti-conspiratorial conclusions on the presidential panel. On January 22, J. Lee Rankin, the Commission's general counsel, exploded in sarcastic anger against the FBI's insistence that there was no conspiracy and that Oswald was the assassin. He said: "They would like to have us fold up and quit . . . They found the man [Oswald]. There is nothing more to do. The Commission supports their conclusions, and we can go on home and that is the end of it." The Commissioners' suspicion, of course, was that the FBI, which had failed to inform the Secret Service and the local police of Oswald's presence in Dallas prior to Kennedy's visit, could not tolerate evidence of conspiracy. As a former defector to the Soviet Union and self-proclaimed Marxist and supporter of the Cuban revolution, Oswald, in the Commission's view, should have been placed on the Secret Service list of persons dangerous to the President. Likewise, the evidence shows that the FBI was aware of Oswald's mental condition, having previously interviewed him and his wife.

- The Commission seemed terrified of FBI Director J. Edgar Hoover. After receiving in secret session information from Texas officials that Oswald might have been an FBI undercover informer, the Commission spent four months debating just how to approach Hoover for a denial that would convince the public. A formal statement by Hoover was not deemed sufficient. Paradoxically, the Commission feared that Hoover might feel that *he* was being investigated.

- Allen Dulles cautioned the Commission that Hoover might lie if Oswald was, indeed, an FBI informer. He confessed to his colleagues that during his tenure as CIA director he would lie under oath to everybody except the President of the United States if he thought it was in the national interest or in the interest of the

agency.

- Rep. Ford provoked a near-uproar in the panel when, on June 4, he charged that outside forces were trying to pressure the Commission to decide in advance that Oswald was a solitary assassin. In December, "Mr. Katzenbach wrote and asked [for] . . . a statement to the effect that there was no foreign involvement, there was no conspiracy . . . a growing volume now . . . with the same intent . . . I have come to no specific conclusion yet." A month later, with but one executive session held in the interim—its contents are still classified—members of the Commission were meeting with psychiatrists in an effort to construct a psychological portrait of Oswald as murderer.

- The psychiatrists' panel told the Commissioners that Oswald might not have assassinated Kennedy if Marina, his wife, had treated him with kindness on the eve of the murder. The psychiatric hypothesis was that Marina unwittingly triggered Oswald's disturbed personality into his criminal act. This was as close as the Commission could have come to fixing on an assassination motive, but it shied away from it in the report.

The transcripts, so reflective of the age of American innocence that died with John Kennedy, are stark drama. The Commissioners are seized with doubts about the probity of the FBI, whose reputation had rarely been questioned in the past. Justice Warren recoils at the idea of reproducing the gruesome photographs of Kennedy's autopsy reports. A staff memorandum tells the Commission that if certain rumors about the assassination—the possibility of a foreign conspiracy—are not quelled, they "could conceivably lead the country into a war which could cost 40 million lives." So there was cold fear both of global catastrophe and domestic turmoil pervading the Commission's work as it peered into the unknown.

Also there were grotesque touches. John J. McCloy, for example, was continually telling the Commission that he had to catch a plane to London or Brazil and would have to be excused. Boggs found it difficult to attend a session because a new governor was being elected in Louisiana. Ford missed the April 30 session altogether because he was in Michigan on political business. Even at its second session, the Commission lacked a copy of the Executive Order establishing it: Warren had to use a clipping from *The Washington Post*. The Commission worried at length about such prosaic matters as parking space near its Maryland Avenue headquarters in Washington, the possibility of borrowing clerical help from other government agencies so that it would not have to pay salaries, and the minimum number of copies of the report to be printed at the least possible cost. As a money-saving device, Dulles proposed at one point that the Commission hire a CIA secretary who was on maternity leave. Many casual remarks show how much the Commission was an expression of the American establishment; its members

each other. When the name of William T. Philadelphia lawyer, came up for a staff , General Counsel Rankin explained, in of another day, that "he is a colored man." resident Ford named Coleman to be Transportation.)

en Commission was appointed by Execu- 1130 on November 29, 1963. This was a r Johnson had encouraged Texas authori-) their own court of inquiry—as much as : to clear the name of Texas in the Kennedy rson may have been unaware at the time g in motion two parallel investigations, he rivalries that, in the long run, complicated vestigation effort. For a time, the Warren and the Texas court of inquiry, unbe- the public, were not even on speaking ; Texas officials still feel that, for the sake ate result, and given leads they wanted they should not have been completely m the Warren Commission's work. This ime ludicrous: for months members of the mission were afraid to go to Texas to e scene of the investigation, lest they be y the Texas authorities.

n Commission is known to have held 13 ssions between December 5, 1963 and 8, 1964. But so much concerning the s work is still wrapped in secrecy that it is s met on other, unrecorded, occasions. ventory of the Records of the President's on the Assassination of President Ken- by the National Archives in 1973, lists ings. An emergency meeting, called by ter secrecy on January 22, 1964 to discuss that Oswald may have been an FBI ot listed by the Archives. In response to an ' *New Republic*, a spokesman explained that t was "discovered" subsequently. Its "top ication was lifted only on March 14, 1975. e is no actual transcript of the final 3, 1964 session. There are, however, is meeting, which throw additional and nt on the proceedings.

nal Archives began declassifying the 1968, but the most significant ones were : for research only in 1974 and 1975. The m a comprehensible narrative only when d as a whole. This is why researchers and o until recently had access only to three d one set of minutes declassified in 1968, in their efforts to produce a coherent : Commission's activities. It is necessary ulk of the material—including the staff neeting with the psychiatrists' panel and memoranda—to be able to understand mind in which the Commissioners

There still are gaps. The National Archives continues to refuse to declassify the transcripts of the May 19 and June 23 sessions. The reason given *The New Republic* for withholding the May 19 transcript was that it related to "personal and medical files and similar files," the disclosure of which would, under the provisions of the law, "constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of personal privacy." There was no clue as to whose privacy might have been jeopardized.

In the case of the June 23 transcript, *The New Republic* was advised by letter from Jane Smith, director, Civil Archives Division of the National Archives, that it was being held back on the request of the CIA. Smith's letter said in part:

"... The transcript of the executive session of June 23, 1964, is withheld from research under 5 USC 552 (b) (1) as amended, 'matters that are . . . specifically authorized under criteria established by an Executive Order to be kept secret in the interest of national defense or foreign policy and are in fact properly classified pursuant to such Executive Order.' In response to a previous request for access, the transcript was reviewed by the Central Intelligence Agency because it relates to Yuri Nosenko, the Soviet defector. In response to our request for a review of the transcript the CIA asked that the request for access be denied 'in order to protect sources and methods and other information related to our operational equities.' The CIA further stated that the transcript warranted classification at the 'Confidential' level under the criteria of Executive Order 11652 and exemption from the general declassification schedule pursuant to section 5 (b) (2) and (3) of the Order. . . ."

Yuri Ivanovich Nosenko, identified in internal Commission documents as a KGB official who defected from the Soviet Union in 1964, provided both the FBI and the CIA with a certain amount of information concerning the period Lee Harvey Oswald, himself a defector, spent in the Soviet Union, between 1959 and 1962. It should be noted however, that, to the end, the Warren Commission remained dissatisfied with the information it could obtain about Oswald's stay in Russia. However, an internal Commission memorandum, dated June 24, 1964, makes this point:

"... Most of what Nosenko told the FBI confirms what we already know from other sources and most of it does not involve important facts, with one extremely significant exception. This exception is Nosenko's statement that Lee Harvey Oswald was never trained or used as an agent of the Soviet Union for any purpose and that no contact with him was made, attempted or contemplated after he left the Soviet Union and returned to the United States. Nosenko's opinion on these points is especially valuable because, according to his own testimony at least, his position with the KGB was such that had there been any subversive relationship between the Soviet Union and Oswald, he would have known about it.

Nosenko's statement to the FBI confirms our information from other sources in the following respects:

Prior to Oswald's arrival in Russia in the fall of 1959 he had no contacts with agents of the Russian government or of the International Communist party who were in turn in contact with

the Russian government. (Our independent sources on this are extremely weak, however. We simply do not have much information on this particular subject.) . . .

. . . Nosenko was shown certain portions of our file on Oswald, including a section which stated that Oswald received a monthly subsidy from the Soviet Red Cross. On seeing this statement, Nosenko commented that it is normal practice in the Soviet Union to make payments to emigres and defectors in order to assist them to enjoy a better standard of living than ordinary Soviet citizens engaged in similar occupations. (Nosenko also said that the subsidy Oswald received was probably the minimum given under such circumstances. This is news to us, although it is not inconsistent with other information we have.)

Oswald was in possession of a gun which was used to shoot rabbits while he was living in Minsk. (Nosenko said he learned this upon reviewing Oswald's file after the assassination of President Kennedy when, under the circumstances, he took particular note of this fact.) . . .

. . . The KGB in Moscow, after analyzing Oswald through various interviews and confidential informants, determined that Oswald was of no use to them and that he appeared 'somewhat abnormal.' . . .

. . . Shortly after the assassination, Nosenko was called to his office for the purpose of determining whether his department had any information concerning Oswald. When a search of the office records disclosed that information was available, telephone contact was immediately made with the KGB branch office in Minsk. The branch office dictated a summary of the Oswald file to Moscow over

the telephone. This summary included a statement that the Minsk KGB had endeavored to 'influence Oswald in the right direction.' This statement greatly alarmed the Moscow office, especially in view of their instructions to Minsk that no action was to be taken on Oswald except to 'passively observe' his activities. Accordingly, the complete Oswald file at Minsk was ordered to be flown at once via military aircraft to Moscow for examination. It turned out that all this statement referred to was that an uncle of Marina Oswald, a lieutenant colonel in the local militia at Minsk, had approached Oswald and suggested that he not be too critical of the Soviet Union when he returned to the United States. . . ."

Inasmuch as the above staff memorandum, written the day after the Commission held its secret meeting on June 23, covers most of the material discussed by the Commissioners, it remains unclear why the actual Commission transcript remains classified. It does, of course, help to build the FBI's and the CIA's no-conspiracy case, but in this instance the intelligence agencies evidently preferred to conceal their information sources and methods. Interestingly Nosenko is not even mentioned in the published Warren report.

In any event, it is unknown what else the National Archives has withheld. The Kennedy records add up to 360 cubic feet of material. Much of it remains uncataloged in the public inventory. According to Sen. Richard S. Schweiker (R, Pa.), 152 Warren Commission items still remain classified in the Archives, including 107 FBI and 23 CIA documents.

The Documents

Even the available Warren Commission transcripts have gaps in them. There are portions of the discussion, often just as sensitive and provocative matters are being raised, when the Commissioners decided to go "off-the-record" and the official court reporter stopped taking notes. One does not know how long these discussions took or what they covered. This material is beyond retrieval.

In addition to the executive sessions and special staff meetings, the Commission took direct testimony from 94 witnesses, including President and Mrs. Johnson; Mrs. John F. Kennedy; Secretary of the Treasury C. Douglas Dillon (in whose department resides the Secret Service); Secretary of State Dean Rusk (whose department handled Oswald's passport problems during his Soviet sojourn); FBI Director Hoover; CIA Director John A. McCone and his deputy, Richard M. Helms; Texas Attorney General Waggoner Carr; Secret Service Chief James J. Rowley; Mrs. Marina Oswald (Oswald's widow); Mrs. Marguerite Oswald

(Oswald's mother); and Jack Ruby, the man who killed Oswald in the Dallas police station on November 24. The staff interviewed 395 other witnesses. However, the Commission apparently disregarded the recommendation of Texas Attorney General Carr that all FBI and CIA agents who were in the Dallas area in the period immediately before and following the Kennedy assassination be interviewed as well. Carr's written recommendation to General Counsel Rankin was based on the long-held suspicion that Oswald may have been employed by either the CIA or the FBI. What follows is an annotated chronology of the Warren Commission's executive sessions, including the lengthy meeting between two of the Commissioners, staff members and a panel of three psychiatrists.

The Commission Meeting of December 5, 1963

This was the organizational meeting of the Commission at the National Archives. The Commission had no staff and no quarters of its own; the principal object of the session was to organize the

investigation. Yet, the first insights into the thoughts of the seven men began emerging quickly, almost as soon as the chairman called the session to order. What preoccupied the Commission from the outset was its historic responsibility, its relations with the FBI and the Justice Department, and the sensitive problem of how to deal with the rival Texas inquiry. Katzenbach, the Deputy Attorney General, was present a part of the time to advise the Commission. This is how Warren launched the Commission:

Chairman: Gentlemen, this is a very sad and solemn duty that we are undertaking, and I am sure that there is not one of us but what would rather be doing almost anything else that he can think of than to be on a commission of this kind. But it is a tremendously important one. The President, I am sure, is right in trying to make sure the public will be given all of the facts of this sordid situation

Warren went on to suggest, however, that the Commission refrain from hiring its own investigators or obtaining subpoena powers. His colleagues, concerned about their credibility, thought this too self-limiting and made it clear that the Commission should have subpoena powers. They were worried, though, that their investigation might improperly interfere with Jack Ruby's murder trial scheduled for February, 1964. John McCloy summed up these problems:

Mr. McCloy: Yes. Now I have the feeling that the prestige, the standing of this Commission, everybody is looking for it to come forward promptly, with an objective comprehensive report which will lay all the dust, and right across our path is this incident of the pending murder trial . . . I have a feeling that we have another obligation than the mere evaluation of the reports of agencies, many of which as you suggested, or some of them at least, may be interested, may be involved. There is a potential culpability here on the part of the Secret Service and even the FBI, and these reports, after all, human nature being what it is, may have some self-serving aspects in them. And I think that if we didn't have the right to subpoena documents, the right to subpoena witnesses if we needed them, that this Commission's general standing might be somewhat impaired. We could use them of course with great discretion and I certainly wouldn't want them to go running around examining witnesses, but I can visualize occasionally when we will want to examine witnesses

Rep. Boggs: I think it would be a mistake if we should suddenly get to a point in the conduct of this Commission where we had to do that and all of a sudden we appear in Congress and ask for this power. If we just ask for it in the course of events of the first meeting of this Commission I think it would be well and proper

Rep. Ford: Hale, I agree with you a hundred percent. I think it would raise the stature of this Commission if this were something that we unanimously agreed upon from the outset. It would give us a standing more than what we have at the present time.

Sen. Russell: It occurs to me, since Mr. McCloy has mentioned it, it would decrease the use of self-serving conclusions if we had that power. Understand, I'm not looking for anyone, I'm not suspicious of anyone going out to cover up, but people will be writing about this thing. I told the President the other day, 50 years from today people will be saying he had something to do with it so he could be President

But Warren, still anxious to keep the Commission's work within what he considered manageable proportions, kept demurring.

Chairman: If the rest of you want the subpoena power that is perfectly all right with me, but if we have the subpoena power people are going to expect us to use it. Witnesses are going to have the right to come in and say, here, I've got this testimony, I want to give it before your committee. And if they are cranks, if they are nuts, we are in a bind because if we don't hear them at least they are going to go out and say we have suppressed the evidence on them and we only heard the things that we wanted to hear, etc.

Rep. Boggs: But Mr. Chief Justice, won't that happen whether we have the subpoena power or not?

Chairman: Well I think maybe it would to some extent, but if we're proceeding on the theory that this was a job of evaluation of evidence rather than of gathering of evidence it will enable us to go to the various agencies of the government and have these people who want to be witnesses investigated, have their testimony appraised by them and then submitted to us for evaluation. That was my thought.

Mr. McCloy: I somehow come back finally to the conviction that this is something we have to do. This Commission is going to be criticized . . . no matter what we do but I think we would be more criticized if we were simply posed before the world as something that is evaluating government agencies' reports, who themselves may be culpable. And I have a feeling that it is within the dignity of this Commission that we should have this, and if we have good counsel he can separate out the nuts from the others, and say I think you ought to talk to this man or you shouldn't talk to him

Finally, under prodding from McCloy, Ford, Boggs and Russell, the Commission passed a resolution providing for introduction of a bill in Congress that would grant subpoena powers to the presidential body. But the decision was made not to ask for the power to grant immunity to witnesses.

From the first day, the Commission was worried about the Texas court of inquiry. Warren described it as a "strange sort of institution" that in the past did not perform very admirably. Katzenbach explained that the Texas court normally holds public hearings, takes evidence, but comes to no conclusions. "Obviously in irresponsible hands" this procedure could be abused, he added.

Warren remarked that the Texas authorities had engaged among their counsel "a gentleman by the name of Jaworski" (Leon Jaworski who, 10 years later, would become the Watergate Special Prosecutor), whom he called a fine lawyer. But Warren commented that "I personally would be very happy if the state of Texas would decide not to hold any such hearings until this Commission had an opportunity to survey the situation and make its appraisal, because if there should be some irresponsible witnesses come before that Commission (in Texas) and give sensational testimony to the public, no findings that they are untrue or anything, and we would have the job of allaying the public fears that developed from that kind of testimony and I think it would be very bad indeed."

Leaks of information attributed to the FBI concerning the bureau's initial findings annoyed the Commission that first day. The Commission was still awaiting the FBI's first full report, and Sen. Russell asked acidly, "how much of their findings does the FBI propose to release to the press before we present the findings of this Commission." This was the beginning of a sub rosa, but intense and sustained feud between the Commission and the FBI that was to

significantly color the ensuing proceedings. Underlining the internal frictions between the attorney general's office and the FBI (the FBI's autonomy within the Department of Justice was a traditional problem facing attorneys general), Katzenbach told the Commission that although Hoover seemed "utterly furious" about the leaks, there could be no question that information came from the bureau.

The balance of the Commission's first session was devoted to discussing the hiring of a general counsel—a number of names were suggested (McCloy said that even Thomas Dewey, the 1944 and 1948 Republican presidential candidate, would be available)—but no decision was made. Allen Dulles remarked that "I don't think it should be anybody from Texas." The Commissioners kept coming back to the problem of handling their press relations—the Commission lived in constant fear of leaks and press criticism—and, at one point, it was suggested that the FBI provide a press spokesman. The idea was quickly dropped.

Ford asked the Chairman to clarify his plans for the Commission meetings later in December because "we have a holiday season coming up, at least I have, with some family plans." McCloy asked, "Can I go to Brazil next week?" Warren suggested an afternoon meeting to keep searching for a general counsel, but McCloy could not make it. "I have this luncheon with the President, whatever it is. They made it very clear to me it was a command performance," he said. The Commission adjourned until the next day.

The Commission Meeting of December 6, 1963

Again, the Commission found itself bogging down in the problem of the Texas Court of Inquiry. Katzenbach was negotiating with Texas Attorney General Carr who had come to Washington, but whom Warren refused to see for three days, having the Texan cool his heels in his hotel room. Warren was holding out for a formal promise that the Texans would hold no hearings until the Commission completed its own investigation. There was uncertainty whether the Warren Commission could issue its report before the end of Ruby's trial, which the Chairman feared might last until May or June. The quandary was that, on the one hand, the report could prejudice a trial in progress and, on the other, that the Commission could reasonably delay finishing its work only so long. The Commission kept wondering what the FBI was doing and just how much the CIA knew about the assassination. The public was never told about the Commission's doubts concerning the FBI and the CIA. As for Allen Dulles, he emerged as an informal spokesman for the CIA, repeatedly offering his former agency's services and insisting that the FBI transmit its material to the CIA as expeditiously as possible.

Mr. Dulles: . . . We would probably want to receive from the State Department and the FBI, at some time appropriate, their reports in regard to the effect of the sad incident, abroad, the attitude taken in various countries. I was in touch with the CIA, which runs what you may call the Foreign Broadcasting Information Service, which means we intercept on a world-wide basis all the radio messages that are sent out, which include, in the case of the Soviet Union, a great deal that is published. They have collected on their own, before I spoke to them, quite a little on this, which is summarized in this pamphlet. Now, while some of those are marked Confidential and some are For Official Use Only, there is very little that is confidential, really. The only confidential thing is that we pick these messages up and do intercept them personally, but it is not advertised that this is a CIA operation. I have copies of the summary, which I can distribute to each member . . . If you don't want to keep them you can destroy

them . . .

When McCloy asked Warren whether he had communicated with the CIA, an exchange ensued that once again demonstrated how discreetly the Commission felt it had to act towards the intelligence community.

Chairman: No, I have not, for the simple reason that I have never been informed that the CIA had any knowledge about this.

Mr. McCloy: They have.

Chairman: I'm sure they have, but I did not want to put the CIA into this thing unless they put themselves in.

Mr. McCloy: Don't we have to ask them if we're on notice that they have?

Chairman: We have to do it with all of them . . . We have not done it with any of them yet because we have not been in that position . . . I think we have to ask them. We have to ask the Secret Service. We have to ask the FBI.

Sen. Russell: State Department may have something.

Chairman: Yes, the State Department. And I think we ought to ask the White House direct if they have anything further that they might like to have us consider in connection with this.

Sen. Russell: . . . Would it be appropriate for us to seek to get such information as the Dallas police, Texas State police, have or should we get that from the FBI?

Russell's question went unanswered inasmuch as the Commission had not yet resolved the Texas rivalry problem. Quite bitterly, Warren told the Commission that he had received "a four-page, single spaced letter" from Waggoner Carr, mainly showing "the importance of their court and what they're going to do," but with "no offer to do anything else other than have their Court of Inquiry." Warren then read a letter he had sent Carr stating that "it is the view of the Commission . . . that a public inquiry in Texas at this time might be more harmful than helpful in our search for the truth."

"I think that we have to show a spirit of cooperation with these people and still . . . not reveal everything we have got or anything about our innermost secrets," Warren told the Commissioners. "We don't have to do that to cooperate with these people . . . I've cooperated with the federal government in a thousand things when I was in state government (Warren had served as governor of California) and we didn't tell everything . . ."

Meanwhile, J. Lee Rankin, the former solicitor general, emerged as the leading candidate for the post of general counsel, although no action on his appointment was taken at the December 6 meeting. And, again, the FBI came in for criticism for new leaks to the press. Boggs and McCloy agreed that it was "outrageous" and Warren remarked that "it would be a great mistake for us either to feel ourselves, or to give the impression to the public, that we sought the assistance of the FBI or the Department of Justice in picking our counsel."

The Commissioners' travels kept interfering with the group's work. Boggs said he had to catch a plane. McCloy announced that "I'm going to leave on Sunday for London for a day . . . It's a queer business but we know this happens. I have to go over and make a speech in London and come back the same day. It's crazy." But McCloy also had to catch a plane that same afternoon.

The Commission Meeting of December 16, 1963

On December 9, the Commission received a five-volume report from the FBI—and the bureau again came under attack. First, Allen Dulles reported that "my copy of the FBI report got to me all right but I was surprised . . . It got there in a big box and I thought it was some more of my books: I shoved it aside and I didn't have it under any security at all." Then this exchange developed over the CIA:

Chairman: We have been . . . notified by the Secret Service that they'll perhaps have their report in before the end of the week. The CIA said that it has no big report to make but it has some communications that it wants to present to us and it will do so when Mr. Rankin tells them we're ready for it.

Mr. Dulles: They have not seen the annexes to the FBI report. They do not have those. Their report could only be of value, in my opinion, unless they have something extraneous, after they have seen the FBI report.

Mr. McCloy: But they do have something that is extraneous.

Mr. Dulles: That we ought to get.

Chairman: Yes. They have Oswald's trip down to Mexico, for one thing, I know. Where he went to the Cuban Embassy down there, and possibly some other agency . . . And I think we also ought to make a formal recommendation of the Texas people to send us their reports.

Rep. Boggs raised the question of Mrs. Marina Oswald and security surrounding her. "She's a Russian citizen," he said. "She might just take off and leave." This led to the following discussion:

Mr. Dulles: I was rather worried about that. She's been in touch with the Soviet Embassy, that we know, and of course she might just take off and go to Mexico.

Chairman: The only thing that I heard was that the Secret Service took her into protective custody so that nothing would happen to her. Now, what they have done since that time I don't know. They were afraid that something might happen to her, as happened to her husband, so they took her to some unknown place, I think.

Rep. Ford: It would be another bad flavor, I think.

Chairman: You're exactly right.

Mr. McCloy: There's another woman here that intrigues me and that is Mrs. Ruth Paine.

Mr. Dulles: And her husband, too [Michael R. Paine]. I understand there's a report on that.

The Paines were friends of Marina Oswald who stayed with them in Irving, Texas, in the weeks preceding President Kennedy's assassination. Lee Oswald visited Marina at the Paines's the evening before the assassination, spending the night there.

The FBI report, voluminous as it was, utterly failed to satisfy the Commission on a number of critical points.

Chairman: Well, gentlemen, to be very frank about it, I have read that FBI report two or three times and I have not seen anything in there yet that has not been in the press.

Sen. Russell: I couldn't agree with that more. I have read it through once very carefully, and I went through it again at places I had marked, and practically everything in there has

come out in the press at one time or another, a bit here and a bit there.

Mr. Dulles: Some of the details of the annexes are not in the press.

Sen. Russell: That's true.

Mr. Dulles: I wish we could get from the FBI more readable annexes. There are three, four, or five annexes there and I think they ought to assume the responsibility of writing them so we can read them.

Rep. Ford: . . . I've had a terrible time trying to read some of the notes of Oswald and I think that, as a convenience to us, it would be very helpful if it was typewritten up so that it would be very readable. [This is a reference to Oswald's diary and his other writings.]

Mr. Dulles: His handwriting is very hard to decipher. They do a better job of deciphering the handwriting than we do.

Mr. McCloy: I think that you've got to bear in mind that they were under pressure to get this to us, and this only purports to be a summary. The grammar is bad and you can see they did not polish it all up. It does leave you some loopholes in this thing but I think you have to realize they put this thing together very fast.

Rep. Boggs: There's nothing in there about Governor Connally . . .

Sen. Cooper: And whether or not they found any bullets in him.

Mr. McCloy: This bullet business leaves me confused.

Chairman: It's totally inconclusive.

Sen. Russell: They couldn't find where one bullet came out that struck the President and yet they found a bullet in the stretcher.

Mr. McCloy: I think you ought to have the autopsy documents.

Chairman: By all means we ought to have the medical reports. We ought to have them as part of this document here because they might play a very important part in it . . . I had the feeling that, after studying this [FBI] report, unless we had the raw materials that went into the making of this report and had an opportunity to examine those raw materials and make our own appraisal, that any appraisal of this report would be little or nothing, and it, therefore, occurred to me that we perhaps ought to have a resolution requesting all agencies and departments furnish all raw materials upon which the reports given to us are based. And reports of raw materials from all developments pertaining to this matter since the last reports were made. In that way we can make our own appraisal of these raw reports and we can form what is going on from day to day in this field . . .

Rep. Boggs commented that "reading that FBI report leaves a million questions." Dulles, again rising to the CIA's defense, said the agency could not do much "on the Soviet end"—the background of Oswald's three years in Russia—"until they receive these papers that have been submitted to us by the FBI . . . They've been working for a long while, I know. It started when I was there."

This was the first public admission that the CIA had been

following Oswald's case since his defection to the Soviet Union in 1959, immediately after his discharge from the Marine Corps. Dulles, however, went on to say that as soon as the CIA obtains the FBI's raw reports, including Oswald's diaries, "they can start tracking back and see what is not told us by the Russians." He said that the Soviet government, which had been requested by the State Department to provide information about Oswald's stay in Russia, has not told of "paying him money, quite substantial sums." Warren replied that the Commission ought to study State Department, Secret Service and Immigration Service reports "and whatever the CIA has." He added that "I think the CIA is right, it can't do much on the Russian end until they get this raw material, and they can do quite a good deal."

But, as the Commission was beginning to discover the bureaucratic rivalry problems involving US intelligence agencies, Warren suggested that "perhaps we ought to have a thorough investigation . . . as to the relationship between the FBI and the Secret Service and the CIA in connection, not only with this matter, but in matters of this kind so that we can do something worthwhile in the future. He also recommended that Oswald's and Ruby's lives be traced from their birth "down to the time [Oswald] was assassinated."

Sen. Russell, ever suspicious of the intelligence agencies, felt that a staff member "with a most skeptical nature, sort of a devil's advocate," would analyze FBI and CIA reports for "every contradiction and every soft spot . . . Just as if we were prosecuting them or planning to prosecute them . . . Maybe the other fellow could do it, go through here and take these reports as if we were going to prosecute J. Edgar Hoover."

Russell, uncannily prophetic, urged:

I think one study should be made just from the standpoint of every one of these reports, if we are ever to reconcile all of this contradictory rumor, the relationship of the Secret Service and the FBI and the police department there, and things of that nature . . . I hope the Commission will agree to get some man who will look for the weakness and possible contradictions, and study it solely from that standpoint. Unless some man devoted his whole time on it we could shove over a question that could be raised five or six years from now that would make us look as if we'd been careless.

Warren was still dissatisfied with the knowledge the Commission had concerning the events prior to the Kennedy assassination. He remarked, for example, that "there really isn't anything to indicate whether or not the FBI notified the Secret Service about any of the activities of Oswald" before Kennedy's arrival in Dallas. And, once more expressing the Commission's concern over its credibility, he said that "I have read in one of the papers . . . which said this is a strange Commission, not one of them has had any investigative experience."

Ford commented that the FBI report "was a narrative that was interesting to read, but it did not have the depth that it ought to have."

Even after reading the FBI report, the Commission showed itself to be totally confused about the events in Dallas as they related to the details of the actual assassination, where the bullets were fired from at President Kennedy, what were the angles and trajectories of the fatal shots.

By now, J. Lee Rankin was already serving as general counsel and participating in the executive session. He becomes a focal point of the ensuing conversation.

Mr. McCloy: I think we ought to take a look at the grounds

and somebody ought to do it and get the picture of this angle to see if it is humanly possible for him to have been hit in the front from a shot fired from that window. Maybe it is . . .

Mr. Rankin: I think that it would be most helpful, before making a trip down there, to examine all the possibilities first and point these out so that you would have the various things to look at that we could think of, and all that you could think of, before anyone went down there rather than going down and coming back with all of those questions.

Mr. McCloy: It's true that evidence slips away, but I think you're right on this. Then there's the question, should we not interview Connally very quickly, and the widow that's a very sensitive thing. I don't think you should cross-examine her, but after all she was a witness right alongside of her husband when the bullet struck.

Mr. Rankin: What are you going to do with the President and Mrs. Johnson? They were there, too . . .

Rep. Boggs: They were not in the same car.

Mr. McCloy: I think somebody ought to be interviewing Mrs. Kennedy pretty quickly . . . I think it's a very delicate thing to do, but I'm told she's quite prepared to talk about it. I've talked to one of the members of the family about it . . . And if you don't do that I think memory might play tricks.

The FBI—and, increasingly, the bureau's ability or inability, to produce adequately—was the recurrent topic of this session. After the first experience with the FBI, Warren conceded that he had been too optimistic 11 days earlier in proposing that the Commission confine itself to the "evaluation" of FBI reports. This is how General Counsel Rankin put it to the Commissioners:

Mr. Rankin: The Chief Justice and I finally came to the conclusion, after looking at this report, that we might have to come back to you and ask for some investigative help, too, to examine special situations, because we might not get all we needed by just going back to the FBI and other agencies because the report has so many loopholes in it. Anybody can look at it and see that it just doesn't seem like they're looking for things that this Commission has to look for in order to get the answers that it wants and it's entitled to. We thought we might reserve the question, but we thought we might need some investigative staff.

Sen. Russell: Initially my thought was if anything came up that we needed some additional information on or wanted to get something expanded to follow up some clue we would turn it over to the FBI and tell them to clear it up. I don't think we will need to have a large staff, but two or three people to check against certain instances where we might need an independent inquiry . . .

Mr. Rankin: There may be some situations where we can't get answers and in those we may need some investigator to get the answers, because it might be a tender spot. I am sure that the FBI is certainly tender about the knowledge they had and the fact that the Secret Service did not have that knowledge in order to do anything about it.

The FBI's greatest vulnerability at that point was the fact that it had failed to inform the Secret Service ahead of time of Oswald's presence in Dallas. He had returned to the Dallas area from Mexico

on October 4, 1963. Subsequent testimony would show that the CIA watched him in Mexico during the seven days he spent there applying for Cuban and Soviet visas; it claimed later it even had photographs showing him visiting the two embassies. But, evidently, the CIA was not talking to the FBI, and the FBI was not talking to the Secret Service or, for that matter, to the Dallas police. What the Commission did not know when it studied the December 9 FBI report was that Oswald had written a threatening letter to the bureau's Dallas field office 10 days before the assassination to discourage agents from additional interviews with his Russian-born wife. FBI agents talked to Marina after Oswald's return from Mexico, but inexplicably, not to him. The last time the bureau had talked to Oswald was in August, 1963, in New Orleans, at his request, after being arrested for causing a disturbance while distributing leaflets of the Fair Play for Cuba Committee. The Warren Commission, in fact, never knew about Oswald's threats to the FBI. This was revealed only in 1975, when FBI Director Clarence Kelley admitted that Oswald had written such a letter and that FBI agents had destroyed it, apparently without reporting to Washington. In retrospect, the FBI's inexplicable performance was even worse than suspected at the time; now it looms very suspicious indeed. In any event, as the Commission recognized, the FBI erred grievously in not informing the Secret Service about Oswald, a former defector with a perplexing and mercurial political and psychiatric history.

Sen. Russell agreed with Rankin that the FBI "would not be human" if it were not "tender" about this failure. And Rankin went on:

Mr. Rankin: There is also the time that Oswald was in this building and he got out and nothing was done about it until he had been all over the community. I presume that all of the various agencies are rather tender about that situation . . . So we might have difficulty getting anything and come up against a blank wall until we get somebody who we can rely upon and who will try to work around some of the people and get the whole picture first.

Rankin's reference was to the Texas School Book Depository building, overlooking the route of the Kennedy motorcade on November 22, from where Oswald fired the shots. Oswald had been employed there.

The Commission went back to the FBI-CIA relationship, this time on Allen Dulles's initiative.

Mr. Dulles: We can expedite the CIA report, I know, because I can give them, or the FBI can pass to them these exhibits about Oswald being in Russia. That is going to be a pretty key business, the analysis of those reports.

Chairman: Haven't the CIA any contact with the FBI?

Mr. Dulles: I don't think they'll do it because the FBI has no authority to pass these reports to anyone else without this Commission's approval.

Mr. McCloy: The CIA knows everything about it. I don't know how they got it but John McCone (CIA Director) knows everything.

Mr. Dulles: He has not seen the reports because I've checked with people yesterday at great length. I have no authority to give it to them and he has not seen the exhibits that we now have, that describe Oswald while he was in Russia.

Chairman: I see no reason why we should not give John McCone a copy of this report and let him see it. He can see

mine if he wants to . . .

Mr. Dulles: I can make mine available. I wouldn't want to do it without approval of this Commission.

Sen. Russell: I have never been able to understand why it is that every agency acts like it's the sole agency in the government. There is very little interchange of information between the departments in the United States Government. The entire view is that they are a separate, closed department, and there is no interchange of information. The Agriculture Department may have something that is similar to what another agency has and yet you can't interchange that information.

Mr. Dulles: I wouldn't want the FBI to pass this report around every place. If you give me authority I would be willing to see that's done.

Chairman: If there is no objection, Mr. Dulles will be authorized to make his FBI report available to Mr. McCone.

Interestingly, as the transcript shows, Katzenbach had written the Commission a few days earlier recommending that the five-page FBI report be made public. In retrospect, it appears that the FBI wanted the public to be apprised, within two weeks of the assassination, of the bureau's conclusion that Oswald had acted alone and that there had not been a conspiracy. The earlier press leaks by the FBI seemed to fit the same pattern. But Russell proposed that the Commission advise Katzenbach that it did not think it advisable to release the FBI report. Rep. Ford said "Right," and the group voted so to inform the Justice Department.

Warren also cautioned the Commission that "it might be in somebody's mind to delay" Jack Ruby's trial, recommending that the Commissioners refrain from discussing publicly when the final report would be issued—before or after the trial. He did not explain his concern, except to say that "We're getting into an area where we can't tell what is liable to happen . . . It might be to somebody's interest if they knew this Commission would not make a report until this trial is over, and to find some way to delay the Ruby trial."

The Commission kept referring to critical material in the press. For example, Rep. Boggs remarked that an article entitled "Seeds of Doubt, Questions About the Assassination" in the December 21, 1963 issue of *The New Republic* (issues of magazines are postdated by a week) "raises some interesting questions." Then the Commission divided over whether to interview Mrs. Kennedy.

Mr. McCloy: One thing I have some doubt about is whether you're going to let such a long time elapse, between the date of the assassination and the middle of January, before you interview the chief witness, Mrs. Kennedy. I just think it's going to look strange if we don't. I don't know who has interviewed her. Maybe some people have, maybe they have not, but I think we ought to satisfy ourselves that we interview her.

Rep. Boggs: I have talked to a friend of mine who told me about riding to the scene of the tragedy, the hospital, and he told me what transpired in the hospital room, and the extent of the wounds. In fact, the President was undoubtedly dead before he ever arrived at the hospital. None of this appears in these reports. Nothing but the autopsy.

Mr. McCloy: We have to get that fast from the one that was closest to him, within a foot of him, when the bullet struck.

Rep. Boggs: And Gov. Connally and Mr. Johnson, and the

Secret Service agent who jumped up on the back of the car.

Sen. Russell: I don't think we should start informal hearings at this stage because I don't know that we'll have to have a parade of witnesses. But if one member of the Commission would want to talk to them I think Mr. Rankin can find that rather quickly through the FBI to see if they have any statement from them. I doubt that they have. If they have not it's rather delicate.

Mr. Dulles: It would be background information of the Secret Service's relations with the FBI.

Mr. McCloy: I don't think we ought to question Mrs. Kennedy.

Sen. Russell: I wouldn't like for the whole Commission to do it. If someone wanted to interview her that's different. I don't think she's the principal witness.

Rep. Ford: That's what I was going to suggest. Someone who knows her best and has known her for a period of time. It can be done most informally.

Chairman: Gentlemen, I don't think we know about this thing yet to question witnesses in the formal way. And when you're going to talk to someone like Mrs. Kennedy I think we ought to know exactly what we want to find out from her, exactly what we have to have from her. I just can't see that we can proceed that way with her because it doesn't seem an honorable way.

Mr. McCloy: I think a month is going to go by before you're in that position, and I think that is dangerous.

Chairman: Do you think she'll forget, Jack?

Mr. McCloy: Yes. Your mind plays tricks with you. She's got it very definitely in mind now, but I don't have that at first hand. She may not be the chief witness as to who did the job. She's the chief witness as to how those bullets hit her husband. She saw both of them . . . This is looming up as the most confusing thing that we've got.

Chairman: I wonder if the report we get from the Secret Service wouldn't pretty much clear that up. If it doesn't, good Lord, what can they report to us on that will help us. They were there, right at the car, and know exactly what happened.

Rep. Boggs: Well, this FBI report doesn't clear it up.

Chairman: It doesn't do anything.

Rep. Boggs: It raises a lot of new questions in my mind.

Mr. McCloy: The FBI was down there.

Mr. Dulles: Yes, but during the investigation I don't think they have any business around the President.

Rep. Ford: No protection responsibility.

Sen. Cooper: I think what the Chief Justice is saying is this, when these reports come in, if there are any raw reports from the FBI, if they have affidavits from people that testified about the circumstances about what happened to the President, also the security people, then, as I understand it, if there are any gaps in that and you feel that you should, go and talk to Mrs. Kennedy.

Sen. Russell: You can get a person to say anything and he

wasn't even there, and yet he'll believe that he saw it himself. I think someone should ask the attorney general to ask her if she would make a statement, and if our counsel feels that we should take the statement then some member of the Commission who knows Mrs. Kennedy better than I do, and I assume that of four or five of you that is true, should take this statement as informally as possible, and that is about how it should be done, if we should do it at all.

Mr. Dulles: I wonder if she wouldn't write it out, and then if we wanted to ask questions on that it would be easier for her. She could take time and just write out everything she could remember.

Rep. Boggs: My thought would be that you or Allen check with Ted Sorensen about this.

Mr. McCloy: My feeling would be to go to Bobby because he held her hand throughout the whole thing, and I think that would be better than [White House aide] Sorensen . . .

Mr. Rankin: I think we could get it by letting her tell her story first and arrange to visit her about particular questions that might not be covered, if that is all right with you.

During the meeting, Dulles questioned several times the value of reports provided by the Soviet government.

Mr. Dulles: The Soviet reports are entirely incomplete. They only relate to correspondence with the embassy. There must be a great many reports that they have, you know, from his diary and so forth and so on. Whether the State Department wants to ask the Russians for any other material regarding him during his stay in Russia, it seems to me we ought to give them a chance to come forward on that. If they refuse us, and they probably will, then we publish these diaries, and so on, it will show that a great deal went on between the Soviet Government and us, only known in Russia, not around here.

Oswald's lengthy diary had been found by the FBI shortly after the assassination, but it had not been made public at the time the Warren Commission was meeting in January. Dulles's reference to "a great deal" that went on between the Soviet government and the US is unclear. It is not likely that he was referring merely to Washington's request to the Soviet Foreign Ministry for background information concerning Oswald's stay in Russia between 1959 and 1962. It remains unknown what, if any, other contacts there had been between the two governments concerning Oswald.

The Commission also felt uneasy about its limited information about Jack Ruby's background. Although the final report has a biographical section on Ruby, it is clear 11 years later that it is full of gaps, particularly concerning his criminal record. Presently, Rep. Boggs said: "There is still little on this fellow Ruby, including his movements, what he was doing, how he got in there [the Dallas jail], it's fantastic . . ." Or Boggs again, "One of the keys in this case is Ruby . . ."

The Commission Meeting of January 21, 1964

This was the Commission's first meeting of the new year, the first since December 16. The Commission was now fully staffed, and Warren, again optimistic, told his colleagues that "progress can be expected reasonably rapidly." But this January meeting was also the time the Commission was faced with the dilemma of whether to speed up the publication of the report because of the campaign year ahead

it back pending the outcome of Jack Ruby's trial. Americans were never informed about this consideration at the time. Nor were they told that Warren set a secret target date to complete the investigation, if possible, before the Democratic and Republican Conventions. And, once again, the FBI comes in for sharp criticism.

Chairman: It seemed to me that one of the important things in our investigation is to be able to trace every dollar that we can in the possession of Oswald and every dollar that he spent, because we don't know where his money came from. There is no evidence of any affluence or anything of that kind, but I think for, in order to make our report complete, we ought to know that as far as we can every dollar that came into his possession and every dollar that he spent, and we have taken that up with the Treasury and they have assigned two of their topflight investigators to run that matter down

Mr. Dulles: There is a pretty good list already on page 35 of the FBI report.

Chairman: Yes, there is, but a lot of blind spots in that, too, Allen, that I think ought to be checked thoroughly.

Mr. Dulles: He paid his taxes.

Mr. Rankin: Mostly withholding and he got a refund most of the time

Chairman: And he did pay back the loan that they gave him over in Russia to come back to the United States . . . [The State Department had loaned Oswald the necessary funds to return to the United States with his wife in 1962.]

After discussing Oswald's financial status and listening to Allen Dulles's suggestion that a study of past assassinations might provide clues for the motive in the Kennedy killing, Chief Justice Warren raised the question of when the Commission's report could be completed.

Chairman: Gentlemen, it is rather early from the work that we have done already and from the materials we have to say when we could close this matter out, but I think it is not too early for us to start thinking about when we anticipate quitting.

I think if this should go along too far and get into the middle of a campaign year that it would be very bad for the country to have this thing discussed at that particular time.

On the other hand, if we were ready today we couldn't put the report out because of the Ruby situation, and how long that will take, I don't know.

But I thought if we should pick a date, say the first of June as a target date to finish this thing up and have our report ready and filed, so we could work toward it, that it would be a good thing to do, because things can drag on if you don't have a target day

Mr. Rankin: I think that we could plan very definitely on closing up on all of the areas except the foreign area by a certain date, and I was thinking about trying to have everything done so we could have a proposed report for the Commission's consideration by, well, by the middle of May, anyway, and trying for a date, possibly the first of June, that you could say you had a report.

Now, the foreign area is a very difficult one because there are large patches in the Soviet Russia period, and in Mexico City that are unaccounted for by any report that we have, and so we don't know what is going to develop, and we have to try

to run them out day by day and hour by hour to try to account for it.

If we hit something that we have to go a long way to try to get the rest of it, then we don't know what will be involved there.

Sen. Russell: Has Ruby's case been set for trial yet?

Mr. Rankin: Well, tentatively, they have talked about the [February] 10th

Sen. Russell: Do you have any idea how long it will take to conclude that?

Mr. Rankin: They also said in the news account today . . . to try for a continuance so I don't know what they are up to but we all agreed that the smartest thing they could do in defending their client was to get him to trial quickly, but we are not trying the case.

Sen. Russell: That time may have passed now

Sen. Cooper: You don't intend to set a target date publicly?

Mr. Rankin: No. I was thinking for the Commission's purpose. That is privately.

Sen. Cooper: They could have the Ruby trial postponed.

Mr. Rankin: No. I thought we could just see what your thinking was, and it seemed like it was wise to try to get out of the way of the conventions if we could.

Sen. Russell: I see no objection to a tentative date. I wouldn't want to be bound too tightly by it because you never know where we will be with respect to it

Rep. Ford: That may be pushing it a bit, but I think it is good to have a push.

Chairman: Some pressure on us to get something done

Rankin told the Commission that it would take the members 30 days to read and digest the raw material already accumulated in the files. He added that if all necessary information were available, the staff could do "quite a job" of putting it together in 45 days. Dulles remarked that about two-thirds of the material was of "no importance," but the Commission should rely on the staff to pick out what is essential from the mass of material—"it is as high as this room now." He said "we can browse around if we have time."

With the Commission constantly worried about criticism, Ford suggested, in effect, that there be no publicity given to the identity of individual Commissioners interviewing witnesses. The system was for witnesses to appear before one or two Commissioners and staff, rather than the full Commission in most instances, to save time.

Rep. Ford: If there was an area of criticism, one might share the blame and others wouldn't, and whether we do a good job or not is dependent upon all of us putting our name on that dotted line with full and complete responsibility.

Chairman: Very true.

Rep. Ford: If it were informal and not as a part of a specific assignment, I think it would be good, but to have it officially known that Hale or I were the person responsible for a particular part it might lead to some criticism or perhaps to dissension or anything else, and I—

Chairman: Or even to harassment by people on the outside.

Such was the Commissioners' concern over possible criticism that they decided to keep some information concerning interrogations secret even from the staff.

Rep. Ford: You are right. Somehow these things might leak and somebody could be criticized within the group. This would be my only off-the-top-of-my-head thought on it.

Chairman: I think you are right, and I see no reason why, if we decided to do that, whatever we decided to do I see no reason why it should ever get out of this room, even to our staff, there is no need of the staff knowing that that is the situation.

Rep. Ford: Yes

Another question the Commission found perplexing was that of Kennedy's wounds. The Commissioners were faced with conflicting information in different reports. This, of course, was a matter that would be repeatedly raised by the report's critics in the years to come.

Mr. McCloy: Let's find out about these wounds, it is just as confusing now as could be. It left my mind muddy as to what really did happen. . . . Why didn't they turn the body over, who turned the body over, who were the people up there, and why did the FBI report come out with something which isn't consistent with the autopsy when we finally see the autopsy? . . . Then talk to the head of the FBI and not Mr. Hoover, but the fellow who headed this investigation, and go in, what did you do, what is all this talk about your having no liaison with the Secret Service? You did have an interview or at least you located this man two or three weeks before the assassination? Didn't you pass this on to the Secret Service, why didn't you if you didn't, and how about this business of the overpass? Did you have Secret Service men on the overpass? It was obviously a place to have somebody, because you can drop a bomb right over it. Well, apparently it turns out they didn't have, for God's sake why didn't you?

Rep. Boggs: I notice in the overpass it never even gets into it.

Mr. McCloy: How about the relationship, well, how about the Mrs. Kennedy investigation? We haven't decided yet who did that.

Sen. Russell: Hasn't that testimony been taken yet?

Chairman: No, we have never bothered Mrs. Kennedy, Senator.

Mr. McCloy: I think we have got to at some point sit down and talk with her not with regard to the sworn testimony.

Mr. Dulles: You haven't talked to Connally or Mrs. Connally?

Mr. McCloy: Do we talk to Mrs. Oswald and what is this we see in the newspaper about Mrs. Oswald being examined by the Commission?

Mr. Rankin: We are planning to examine her

The Commission's next concern was a visit to Dallas. The panel had been in existence for over six weeks, but it had not yet inspected the scene of the crime. The discussion on this point was baffling. The eight top-notch lawyers in the room—the seven Commissioners and the general counsel—could not decide whether they were in danger of being subpoenaed by Texas authorities. This was one episode in which the work of the Commission verged on the absurd.

Mr. McCloy: About visiting the scene of the crime. I think

sooner or later one of us or all of us ought to go down there and visit it in spite of the very graphic and interesting exhibits.

Mr. Rankin: We are being asked for all kinds of evidence by Ruby's defense counsel and I think if we go down there, we might all be subpoenaed.

Mr. McCloy: Slap a subpoena on us.

Mr. Rankin: Subpoena *duces tecum* and then what do we do.

Mr. Dulles: We have no immunity in our capacity as a Commission, do we?

Sen. Russell: We do have executive immunity, we are a presidential Commission, which is the highest we can have.

Mr. Dulles: If we could get into subpoena we would be in great trouble, I don't think we could.

Sen. Russell: I don't think we could. I don't think we are subject to any subpoena.

Sen. Cooper: You don't think we are?

Sen. Russell: No, sir, I don't think so.

Chairman: You don't think we are subject to subpoena?

Sen. Russell: I don't believe you can subpoena this Commission to produce any paper we have.

Chairman: I don't think we ought to produce anything.

Mr. Rankin: We have executive privilege.

Sen. Russell: We have executive privilege. If we don't have executive privilege as appointees of the President, to do a specific performance, a specific job for him, I don't know how you create executive privilege . . . I wouldn't go down there with the bands playing and the colors flying just now but that is talking about an entirely different thing from whether or not you're subject to the subpoena.

Rep. Boggs: I think if we go, the whole Commission has got to go, I think for one man to go down there would be unfair to the one man and unfair to the other members of the Commission as well.

If a determination is made to go there then I think the whole Commission has got to go. . . .

Mr. Rankin: I think it is very important if anybody goes you all go, because you are going to be passing upon this whole question and you ought to have the same kind of evidence before you when you get there

Chairman: I agree with you that they have no right to subpoena our records or get any of them. We could prevent that all right. But they could serve a subpoena on us.

Sen. Russell: That is correct.

Chairman: They could embarrass us tremendously . . . We discussed that very thoroughly about the testimony of Mrs. Oswald and it was first thought we ought to take the testimony down there, but it occurred to me that there might be a lot of complications if we go down there, and we should work it out with her attorneys to bring her up here and do it in quiet right in this room, right in this room with no fanfare or anything else about it. I was wondering about this: if that little woman, with her babies and if she comes she has got to come

and bring her babies with her, goes on a commercial airplane, she will be subjected to flashbulbs and everything, and she will be embarrassed and maybe she will be made hostile, and I thought that if we were to ask the Armed Forces if they would . . .

Sen. Russell: I don't think that would be the slightest difficulty in that up here in one of these Jet Stars in a couple of hours from down there . . .

A long discussion ensued over Marina Oswald's plans to sell her story to Life magazine. Warren said that her lawyer should let the Commission inspect the story before "this thing goes to the printer," and that the lawyer had agreed to it. In fact, he said, the first 50 pages were being translated from the Russian.

Sen. Russell: Her attorney is not commercial-minded, is he? If he was he would say, no, he is going to sell the story first, beat the Commission. Because the story would sell three times as many as after the report is made.

Chairman: He doesn't agree to wait until the report is made, but until we have examined it and have had an opportunity to take her testimony . . .

Mr. McCloy: He is still peddling this thing?

Chairman: Oh, yes . . .

Mr. McCloy: It might develop into a movie, but then also in contact with this fellow [Isaac Don] Levine to try to break the story up in a little more graphic manner and tie it into the Russian business, and it is with the thought and background of a Russian connection conspiracy concept . . .

The Commissioners spent some time wondering about the functions of various lawyers representing or purporting to represent the Oswald family.

Sen. Russell: But there are so many lawyers brought into it. She [Marina] has lawyers in Texas and didn't employ someone in New York.

Mr. Rankin: Well, there is Mark Lane who . . . is in the agenda here about representing Oswald, the decedent before the Commission, and Mr. Thorne told me that he came to Marina Oswald, too, and Mr. Thorne and asked if he couldn't represent the decedent on her behalf and she turned him down, she didn't want any part of him.

Mr. Dulles: I think she was wise from what I hear about Mr. Lane.

Mr. Rankin: Then he went to Marguerite, the mother and persuaded her. But apparently she didn't seek him out . . .

Sen. Russell: He was down soliciting business . . .

Then the Commissioners went back to their secret target date, insistent that it not be known publicly. Warren, responding to Ford's query about their timetable, said that June 1 was the "tentative target date." And McCloy added: "Not to be given out. That is just within the confines of this room." Discussing the procedure, Warren said that counsel should examine the witnesses while "we sit here as near like judges as the situation will permit . . ."

Rankin informed the Commission that the FBI had just provided a reconstruction of the crime scene with photographs and actual models, having spent "a considerable sum of money" on it. The exhibit was being kept in the Commission's building in a locked

room. He then undertook to explain where the Commission stood in regard to the FBI.

Mr. Rankin: We would by now have all kinds of requests to direct to the FBI and the other agencies in detail of additional material we need to fill out these various holes and we were getting down to this point where we got this additional supplemental material and I didn't want to go back to the FBI and say to them, "Where is this matter about Mrs. Paine, for instance on such and such a date," an additional inquiry, and find that they said, well, that is all in your supplement. Why don't you read what we give you, and you would really be in a bad spot if we did that and it would make our relations difficult and make it hard for us to get the other material if we needed it later.

Sen. Russell: That is what you are for, Mr. Rankin, you are supposed to know what is in all those things and avoid our being embarrassed by asking such a thing . . .

Mr. Rankin: Then, we can let you see the type of additional inquiries we are making to the FBI and the Secret Service and everybody else. . . . That will give you a really good picture along with the synopsis you have as to what we think might be some further guidance in this further picture . . .

The problem of fingerprints on Oswald's gun and other objects then came up, and several members suggested that it would be wise to have independent experts provide their findings in addition to the FBI's report.

Sen. Russell: I have a great confidence in the FBI. I am not making any statements in any sense to challenge their ability. I have great confidence in them and I realize all over the country as a whole when they get down to the question of ballistics, for example, when the states have exhausted themselves they ask the FBI to make a study of it. But it seems to me that the FBI itself would be glad to have that done because there is going to be unquestionably in the years that are ahead, maybe perhaps months, there will be so many questions raised, that it would be desirable to have a double check made on matters of that kind that are capable of being investigated by another competent group . . .

Chairman: But we can find those people who are thoroughly independent, too, of the FBI.

Sen. Russell: I don't think that is a matter that we ought to go out and discuss. We ought to perhaps not even refer to it along the line, but have it quietly in reserve . . .

Mr. Dulles: About the visual aids . . . Do the FBI and the Secret Service and maybe the police of Texas agree on these models and so forth and the various visual aids you have given us here, or is this just the FBI?

Mr. Rankin: Just the FBI, and the Secret Service is different on the distances, and I have already put that up to them and asked them about it.

This was a reference to a disagreement between the FBI and the Secret Service concerning the distance between Oswald and President Kennedy's car — and the speed of the car — at the precise moment the bullets were fired.

Rep. Boggs: What is really significant is whether the man lived or died. If the car speeded up he probably would still be alive today . . .

The Commission's relations with the press were a continuing anxiety. Warren remarked, for example, that newsmen "badger the life out of Mr. Rankin."

Rep. Boggs: A man who is in public life, and who has to be elected to office, he can afford to have press pets because he knows pretty well who is going to help him and who is going to be cutting his throat. But a Commission can't do it, a presidential Commission. They have got to deal it out with the same spoon to everyone without regard to their relations with them

Rep. Ford: Would it be wise to borrow somebody from the bureau or the CIA who handles their business in this way?

Rep. Boggs: . . . I think it important for the public to know that the Commission is active and is doing things. It doesn't necessarily mean they should know what we are doing, but in my judgment it would be a mistake if all of a sudden the Commission disappeared out of the news totally and completely

Chairman: . . . If we have an understanding today that, of course we are not seeking publicity but bearing in mind that certain questions will of necessity have to be answered

Once more, the Commission turned to the delicate question of how Mrs. Kennedy should be approached.

Mr. McCloy: . . . If somebody from the Commission, and I had you in mind, Mr. Chief Justice, would call on her, at a certain time, but in order to sort of ease it for her, could you just give him a little ahead of time what the general line of questioning would be so she could be thinking about it a little bit . . . I would like to speak off the record a minute in regard to this matter.

The discussion was off the record. At this point, the official reporter stopped taking notes.

Rep. Boggs: . . . In the case of the widow of the late President, and in the case of the President and his wife, that the Commission authorize its Chairman . . . to take whatever steps he deems advisable to get whatever testimony may be pertinent from those people

Ten pages of transcript of the January 21 meeting have been removed at this point and classified without explanation by the National Archives.

The grisly subject of Lee Oswald's remains was next on the Commission's agenda. The final report did not show that this matter was even discussed.

Chairman: . . . Now that the situation is that this man is buried in a cemetery and it takes officers around the clock to watch him, watch and see that they don't come in and exhume him and do something that would further injure the country, and so it has been suggested that to save expense they exhume him and cremate him. But the mother has made some public statements about that and said she doesn't care how much it costs or what it is, she just won't consent to his cremation.

His wife, since she has come over to this country, has been studying the Catholic religion, and while she hasn't yet accepted it, she does go to two Catholic churches, and the Catholic church, I think we all know, is opposed on religious grounds to cremation, and I think if we gave any consent to any one cremating this man, we would be in trouble . . . The

question might arise before this thing as to something on that body now. I don't know what it is. It might be the course of the bullet. It might be something else. But I don't think we would want that disposed of until our report has been made

Sen. Russell: Because then they would make a case on it. I thought we might do this. I thought we might get some mausoleum to take this body, and seal it up and put it in the mausoleum, unknown to anybody else, if they can do that, and no one would know where it was, the wife would consent to it, I think, and the mother hasn't got anything to say about it anyway if the wife consents to it, and I would have that done rather than to dig up or cremate that body. We might get into a great religious controversy.

Rep. Boggs: I am a little concerned about moving him. You remember when, it is funny how history repeats itself, but all the controversy about the body ultimately of Lincoln

Sen. Russell: I believe it is better to have somebody paying for watching that grave a little while longer.

Mr. McCloy: I don't think we ought to have on the record that we are moving in this thing. We are not saying anything about it.

Sen. Russell: If the wife is not willing to have him moved it is a question of watching, to prevent some body snatcher from removing him.

Rep. Boggs: If you move that body, I don't care if you move that body 20 foot over to somewhere else somebody is going to say that is not the body and you are going to have to have somebody go down there and pull it out of that mausoleum and have X-rays made and prove it is his body. It may cost a little money to have a cop or two around there but it is worth it

Sen. Cooper: . . . the lot is owned by his mother, Marguerite, and he doesn't know whether she would want anybody in there trying to strengthen the vault. Of course she wouldn't do anything about it, unless his wife agreed to it being moved, but it is being protected by the city police and they don't know how long it is going to be protected

The Commission spent some time discussing whether Oswald's personal effects should be returned to his mother at once, later, or placed in the National Archives.

Chairman: It may be that there are some of these things that we would like to use as an exhibit for our report and would like to put in the Archives over here.

Sen. Russell: That is exactly what I had in mind. I think the more of these things that are kept in the public domain the better off we are . . . If they are in the public domain, there they are, there is the evidence you can see them, for example, denying this is the same gun, if you have that gun, the gun is in the public domain where any American citizen can see it why that answers itself.

Chairman: I would never give them the gun.

Rep. Boggs: I would never think of giving it to them.

Chairman: I will tell you what they might have in view. How many articles are there, Lee?

Mr. Rankin: Four hundred.

The Commissioners and Rankin then bogged down again in the subject of whether the Commission should prevent Marina Oswald from selling her life story before the Commissioners had a chance to study it. The conclusion was that Mrs. Oswald was free to sell it at any time. Rankin, who had read parts of it, told the Commission that "it doesn't add anything."

Warren informed the group that he had to take the six o'clock plane to New York "because I have to escort Queen Frederika [of Greece] to a dinner" and did not want to commit "lèse majesté." As the conversation droned on, McCloy, returning to Marina Oswald's diary, reported that he had heard from Life magazine that "she was going to put evidence in this thing that she was a Soviet agent." Sen. Russell commented: "That will blow the lid if she testifies to that."

Then the Commission turned to inquiries by the American Civil Liberties Union about access to Marina Oswald.

Chairman: In a newspaper item [the ACLU] demanded to see Mrs. Oswald to see if she was being restrained unconstitutionally of her liberty . . . They wanted to see her personally, and I don't think we could afford to have a great issue made of that . . . I think we ought to try to make arrangements to let someone see her and talk to her and maybe we can do it at the time of her testimony here. . . .

Sen. Russell: I don't think they have a right to invade her privacy if she doesn't want to talk to them. She has got her own lawyer . . . I don't know that we have her in our custody

Mr. Rankin: We do have a little problem because the Secret Service came to us and said, "Shall we quit our surveillance over her?"

Sen. Russell: Oh, no, we can't do that.

Mr. Rankin: I said we can't do that because she would slip right across the border and be gone, and if it got down to that issue, I suppose they would say we told them to stay there, blame it on us

Again, the Commission found itself in a conflict with Texas. The Dallas district attorney and Ruby lawyers, as Warren put it, "demanded that we give them everything we have . . . they wrote a jury argument to support it." Then, as it turned out, the FBI was part of this problem, too.

Sen. Russell: The FBI and Secret Service, if they can litigate it out of them, let them have it.

Chairman: The trouble is we are in a little bind there because the FBI has written to these people and has said, "Now we are perfectly willing for you to have anything that the Commission says you might have." . . . That is what you might expect, they are passing the buck

The Commission voted to advise the Texas lawyers it could not comply with the request, but Warren said that a letter also had to be sent to FBI Director Hoover who "has put us in a bind." The FBI, as mentioned above, had told the Texas authorities and Ruby's lawyers that they could have all the bureau's materials if the Warren Commission agreed. The Commission apparently saw it as another FBI attempt to disseminate its conclusions. Warren put it strongly in his letter to Hoover:

"The Commission has authorized me to advise you and other Federal agencies that it will not respond favorably to such requests and that it will not urge you or them to make

any deviation from your own judgment of what is required of your agency by law"

By then, the Commission had seen enough of the problems involving US intelligence agencies to take the view that they needed overhauling. The Commission had already sent a letter to the Secret Service requesting their recommendations for future coordination among the agencies for the protection of Presidents.

Chairman: Now, we were asking the Commission now whether we should ask for similar information from the other agencies because we have the problem that is involved in this whole thing of pooling information that comes to the attention of one intelligence agency.

For example, the FBI's information about Oswald that was not communicated to the Secret Service so they could put it into their special place, their research place that they could have and which they check out when they go from one place to another.

Now, apparently there is the considerable problem about that information being brought to the attention of various agencies that would have an interest in it, and the question of where it can be pooled. There is on the other side of the coin the question of whether or not the other agency is entitled, has sufficient security or its people are safe enough to give this confidential information to which some of the agencies say, "Well, we couldn't give any information of some of our activities because our people would be killed immediately if that agency got the information."

Of course, each one claims that it is the secure agency and the other one can't be trusted with anything.

Mr. Dulles: I heard that before.

Mr. Rankin: So we think for you to evaluate this whole thing first, you have the problem of what was done at the time in regard to protecting the President. We have the problem of what they did . . . with relation to their own standards and so forth at the time, and there is a considerable problem in that area.

Then it is what they are trying to do now to improve their procedures, and what might be done by this Commission in suggesting action that could improve the whole set-up. There isn't any question but what we are spending a tremendous amount of money in the government for accumulating all kinds of information. But whether it gets the place that it should for the most effective means is one of the things I think this Commission is going to desire to say something about. At least we want to present it to you for your attention and see what you want to do about it.

Rep. Ford: The immediate problem then is whether we are going to ask them to tell us, one, what they did prior to, and now what are they anticipating they will do in the future

Mr. Dulles: I haven't seen anything from the Texas police

The Commission Meeting of January 22, 1964

This was a secret meeting of the Commission called on an urgent basis by Chief Justice Warren, to advise the Commissioners that the attorney general of Texas had information suggesting that Lee Harvey Oswald might have been acting as an undercover FBI agent. The meeting, held from 5:30 pm to 7 pm at the Commission's headquarters, was not publicized. The minutes of this

session are not listed in the official "Inventory of the Records of the President's Commission on the Assassination of President Kennedy" issued by the National Archives in Washington in 1973. Marion M. Johnson, the custodian of the Kennedy records at the Archives, told *The New Republic* that the minutes of the January 22, 1964, session were not listed in the "Inventory" because they had not been "discovered" when the catalogue was being compiled in 1973. The Archives did not explain how the minutes were subsequently discovered; they were declassified, however, on March 14, 1975. The quality of this transcript is especially poor, with words missing occasionally, others misspelled, and the identity of speakers not always clearly indicated.

When Warren summoned the Commission for the emergency meeting, he was apparently unaware that earlier published reports had hinted that Oswald may have had connections with the FBI. The Commission would conclude in its final report that these allegations were disproved to its satisfaction. But this whole question was reopened in September, 1975 when Waggoner Carr, who had served as attorney general of Texas in 1963-64, charged that the Commission failed to meet his request that a check be conducted on all the FBI and CIA agents, informants and "spies" who were in the Dallas area immediately before President Kennedy's assassination. Carr's charges in 1975 served to spotlight the strange and difficult relationship between the Warren Commission and FBI Director Hoover throughout the investigation of President Kennedy's death.

The Commissioners were so stunned by the information given them at the January 22, 1964 session that Allen Dulles, the former CIA director, proposed that the minutes of this meeting be destroyed.

Chairman: I called this meeting of the Commission because of something that developed today that I thought every member of the Commission should have knowledge of, something that you shouldn't hear from the public before you had an opportunity to think about it. I will just have Mr. Rankin tell you the story from the beginning.

Mr. Rankin: Mr. Waggoner Carr . . . called me at 11:10 this morning and said that the word had come out, he wanted to get it to me at the first moment, that Oswald was acting as an FBI undercover agent, and that they had the information of his badge which was given as number 179, and that he was being paid \$200 a month from September of 1962 up through the time of the assassination. I asked what the source of this was, and he said that he understood the information had been made available so that defense counsel [Melvin Belli] for Ruby had that information, that he knew that the press had the information, and he didn't know exactly where Wade had gotten the information but he [Wade] was a former FBI agent.

That they, that is, Wade before, had said that he had sufficient [evidence] so that he was willing to make the statement.

I brought that to the attention of the Chief Justice immediately, and he said that I should try to get in touch with Carr and ask him to bring Wade up here, and he would be willing to meet with him any time today or tonight to find out what was the basis of this story. I tried to get Carr, but he was out campaigning in Texarkana so . . . it took him quite a while to get back to him and talk to him. I just got through talking to him and he told me the source of the information was a member of the press who had claimed he knew of such an agent, that he [Oswald] was an undercover agent, but he now is coming with the information as to his particular number and the amount he was getting and the detail as to the time

when the payments started. Wade said he as well as him did not know the name of the informant but he could guess who it was, that it was given to his assistant, and he was sure that he knew, and he said he was trying to check it out to get more definite information.

Carr said that he could bring Wade in some time the first of the week, but in light of the fact that it was this man of the press and that they did not think it would be broken by the press immediately, although there had been all kinds of stories down there but Carr said there were some 25 to 40 different stories about this being the case . . . but this was the first time that he got something definite as to how they were handling it or how it could be handled by himself. But I was concerned of an undercover agent. He thought that the press would not bring the story without some further proof, and they are working on that now, he said. So he thought that if he brought Wade back on Monday or Tuesday, that that would still take care of any major problem. When he first told us, he said the press had it and he was fearful because he hadn't even gotten this from Wade. He got it from another man that the press would bring it before we could know about it and the Commission would be asked all kinds of questions without having information about it. Now he said Wade told him that the FBI never keeps any records of names . . .

Rep. Boggs: There is a denial of this in one of these FBI records, as you know . . .

Sen. Cooper: In this file we had yesterday, one of the lawyers for this fellow who claims to represent . . . Oswald or one of the, Ruby, told about this, do you recall it, he said it was being rumored around.

Mr. Rankin: Yes, it was being rumored that he was an undercover agent. Now it is something that would be very difficult to prove out. There are events in connection with this that are curious, in that they might make it possible to check some of it out in time. I assume that the FBI records would never show it, and if it is true, and of course we don't know, but we thought you should have the information . . . And Mr. Carr said that they . . . thought that they knew why the FBI was so willing to give some of these records to the defense counsel . . . he said a number of these records were furnished by the Texas authorities, and that they should not be given up to the defense counsel, and that the reason he thought that they were so eager to help Ruby was because they had the undercover, that Oswald was the undercover agent and had the number of his badge and so much, he was getting \$200 a month and so forth, and that was the way it was explained as his justification to the court as a basis for determining the records and that that was the excuse the FBI, the reason the FBI had for being so eager to give the records up. That is the way it was developed . . . I did talk to Jaworski [Leon] and he said he didn't think Wade would say anything like this unless he had some substantial information back of it, and [Jaworski] thought he [Wade] could prove it, because he thought it would ruin many politics, in Texas, to be making such a claim, and then have it shown that there was nothing to it . . .

Rep. Ford: How long ago did they get a feeling that there was some substance to the rumors that apparently had been—I just assumed, and I didn't ask them that, that Carr called me and seemed to be in a matter of great urgency at 11:10 this

morning, and that he was fearful that they would bring in the papers before we would even get to know about it, and that is the way he was talking and acting about it.

Sen. Cooper: He felt there was . . . He didn't know the name of the informant?

Mr. Rankin: No, he did not.

Chairman: What then would lead him to think it had substance?

Mr. Rankin: Well, he said that the reason he thought it might have substance was because Wade had heard these rumors constantly . . .

Sen. Cooper: How would you test this kind of thing?

Mr. Rankin: It is going to be very difficult for us to be able to establish the fact in it. I am confident that the FBI would never admit it, and I presume their records will never show it, or if their records do show anything, I would think their records would show some kind of a number that could be assigned to a dozen different people according to how they wanted to describe them. So that it seemed to me if it truly happened, he did use postal boxes practically every place that he went, and that would be an ideal way to get money to anyone that you wanted as an undercover agent, or anybody else that you wanted to do business that way with without having any particular transaction.

Rep. Ford: There might be people who would see what was going on with that particular box, because the postal authorities do watch, they have means of watching in many places that no one could see. They can watch the clerks as to what they are doing in these boxes, and they can watch the individuals that are going in and out. They do that only when they have an occasion to be suspicious, but they might, in watching for somebody particularly, they might also see other things that they just have to note. That is a possibility.

At this juncture, the Commission tried to understand why the FBI might ever have employed Oswald in any capacity. Here Dulles volunteered his CIA background to help search for possible reasons.

Mr. Dulles: What was the ostensible mission? I mean when they hire somebody they hire somebody for a purpose. It is either . . . Was it to penetrate the Fair Play for Cuba Committee? That is the only thing I can think of where they might have used this man. It would be quite ordinary for me because they are very careful about the agents they use. You wouldn't pick up a fellow like this to do an agent's job. You have got to watch out for your agents. You really have got to know. Sometimes you make a mistake.

Rep. Ford: He was playing ball, writing letters to both the elements of the Communist parties. I mean he was playing ball with the Trotskyites and with the others. This was a strange circumstance to me.

Mr. Dulles: But the FBI get people right inside you know. They don't need a person like this on the outside. The only place where he did any at all was with the Fair Play for Cuba Committee.

Rep. Boggs: Of course it is conceivable that he may have been brought back from Russia you know.

Mr. Rankin: If he was in the employ from 1962, September

1962, up to the time of the assassination, it had to start over in Russia, didn't it, because didn't he get back in February? . . .

Mr. Dulles: They have no facilities, they haven't any people in Russia. They may have some people in Russia but they haven't got any organizations of their own in Russia . . . They might have their agents there. They have some people, sometimes American Communists who go to Russia under their guidance and so forth and so on under their control . . .

Mr. Rankin: One of the strange things that happened, and it may have no bearing on this at all, is the fact that this man who is a defector, and who was under observation at least by the FBI, they say they saw him frequently, could [be] with a passport that permitted him to go to Russia. From my observations of the case that have come to us, such passports are not passed out with that ease.

Mr. Dulles: I think you are wrong on that . . . Because the passports are issued valid for anywhere except specified countries . . . But any American, practically any American, can get a passport that is good for anywhere. An American can travel and Russia is one of the countries you can now travel to . . .

Chairman: I think our general counsel and I both have some experience in cases that have come before our court which would indicate that that isn't exactly the fact . . . They have great difficulty, some of them, in getting a passport to go to Russia.

Rep. Boggs: Particularly for someone who has any Communist . . .

Mr. Rankin: The State Department knew he was a defector. They arranged for him to come back.

Mr. Dulles: But it don't get passport files or the passport records. They are issuing hundreds and thousands of passports. They have their own particular system . . . They don't run around from time a man comes in. If they don't find any clue, and they don't according to our record here, they don't find any warning clue in his file—they should have a warning clue in his file.

Sen. Cooper: That is what they admitted, that they had not supplied the warning.

Mr. Dulles: And the Passport Office don't on its own usually go around and inquire. They wait until it is assigned there. Then they follow it up.

Sen. Cooper: This may be off the point a bit, but as I re-read the report, the chronology of the FBI checks on Oswald, they knew that he had gone to Texas. They learned from Mrs. Paine: they knew where Mrs. Oswald was living. They talked with her. They knew where he was working . . .

Rep. Boggs: . . . You will find the report from the FBI dated back last summer, and months before that and then months after that . . .

Mr. Rankin: They had a report on many, they had an agent go and see him when he was in prison . . . in New Orleans . . . and he lied to them before the police. He said his wife was a Texas girl, and he married her in Texas, and a whole string of stuff, and in Dallas they had a report prior to that that was definitely contrary to it.

Rep. Boggs: The fellow [Edward] Butler who works for the . . . organizations . . . to disseminate and tie Communist propaganda to Latin America, is the one who confronted him on the streets in New Orleans . . . Butler says that this was the first time that they established that he had been in Russia and that he had defected at one time and then returned. You have undoubtedly in your files . . . that tape that was made . . . in New Orleans. . . . On that tape . . . he gives the normal Communist line, reaction to everything.

Sen. Cooper: How do you propose to meet this situation?

Rep. Boggs: This is a serious thing.

The allegation that Oswald might have been an FBI informer became immensely troubling to the Commission in the light of the bureau's insistence from the very outset that he was the assassin and that there was no conspiracy. As Rankin said, the FBI wanted the Commission to "fold up and quit." The discussion in the Commission made it clear that suspicions were developing that the FBI could be so convinced of Oswald's guilt as the lone gunman because it had him under control. It was a devastating thought. The Commission was so aghast that Dulles even suggested that the record of their session be destroyed. At that stage, the disposition of the Commission seemed to be to conceal evidence, if it actually developed into evidence, to spare the nation an intolerable truth. Rankin sought to place it all in perspective.

Mr. Rankin: I thought first you should know about it. Secondly, there is this defector too that is somewhat an issue in this case, and I suppose you are all aware of it. That is that the FBI is very explicit that Oswald is the assassin or was the assassin, and they are very explicit that there was no conspiracy, and they are also saying in the same place that they are continuing their investigation. Now in my experience of almost nine years, in the first place it is hard to get them to say when you think you have got a case tight enough to convict somebody, that that is the person that committed the crime. In my experience with the FBI they don't do that. They claim that they don't evaluate, and it is uniform prior experience that they don't do that. Secondly, they have not run out of all kinds of leads in Mexico or in Russia and so forth which they could probably . . . They haven't run out all the leads on the information and they could probably say—that isn't our business . . . But they are concluding that there can't be a conspiracy without those being run out. Now that is not (normal) from my experience with the FBI . . . Why are they so eager to make both of those conclusions . . . the original report and their experimental report, which is such a departure. Now that is just circumstantial evidence, and it don't prove anything about this, but it raises questions. We have to try to find out what they haven't said that would give any support to the story, and report it to you. . . .

The transcript becomes unclear at this point in identifying the speakers participating in the discussion as to which FBI official would know whether Oswald had, indeed, been an undercover agent. Rankin, replying to questions, said that Alan H. Belmont, whom he described as being in the FBI's Special Security Division, would know "every undercover agent."

Mr. Rankin: . . . When the Chief Justice and I were just briefly reflecting on this we said if that was true and it ever came out and could be established, then you would have people think that there was a conspiracy to accomplish this assassination

that nothing the Commission did or anybody could dissipate.

Rep. Boggs: You are so right.

Mr. Dulles: Oh, terrible.

Rep. Boggs: Its implications of this are fantastic, don't you think so?

Chairman: Terrific.

Mr. Rankin: To have anybody admit to it, even if it was the fact, I am sure that there wouldn't at this point be anything to prove it.

Mr. Dulles: Lee, if this were true, why would it be particularly in their interest—I could see it would be in their interest to get rid of this man but why would it be in their interest to say he is clearly the only guilty one? I mean I don't see that argument that you raise particularly shows an interest. . . .

Mr. Rankin: They would like to have us fold up and quit.

Rep. Boggs: This closes the case, you see. Don't you see?

Mr. Dulles: Yes, I see that.

Mr. Rankin: They found the man. There is nothing more to do. The Commission supports their conclusions, and we can go on home and that is the end of it.

Mr. Dulles: But that puts the burden right on them. If he was not the killer, and they employed him, they are already it, you see. So your argument is correct if they are sure that this is going to close the case, but if it don't close the case, they are worse off than ever by doing this.

Rep. Boggs: Yes, I would think so. And of course, we are all even gaining in the realm of speculation I don't even like to see this being taken down.

Mr. Dulles: Yes. I think this record ought to be destroyed. Do you think we need a record of this?

Mr. Rankin: I don't, except that we said we would have records of meetings and so we called the reporter in the formal way. If you think what we have said here should not be upon the record, we can have it done that way. Of course it might. . . .

Mr. Dulles: I am just thinking of sending around copies and so forth. The only copies of this record should be kept right there.

Rep. Boggs: I would hope that none of these records are circulated to anybody. . . .

Meeting of the Commission on January 27, 1964

Five days after its secretive emergency meeting of January 22, the Commission was convened by Chief Justice Warren to decide what to do about the reports that Lee Oswald may have been an FBI undercover agent. The Commission (minus Rep. Ford, who was away that day) spent more than two hours of its three-and-a-half-hour afternoon session agonizing over ways of approaching J. Edgar Hoover on the subject of Oswald.

The Commission, as it became increasingly clear throughout the afternoon, was caught between its concern that Hoover's written denial of Oswald's alleged employment by the FBI would not be believed by the public and its own fear of antagonizing Hoover if it attempted to embark on its own investigation of the charges. The

point was repeatedly made that Hoover might feel that he was being investigated by the Commission if, as suggested by many members, he were asked to produce documentary evidence that he was telling the truth. The discussions produced the impression that the commissioners were, in a sense, afraid of Hoover, whose national popularity and reputation were repeatedly alluded to. Yet, they were in a dilemma, almost convinced that there might be no way of discovering the truth. In other words, they feared they could never prove the negative, i.e. that Oswald had never been in the FBI's employ.

This doubt was further compounded by Allen Dulles who, drawing on his experience as CIA Director, virtually assured the Commission that, even if they were true, Hoover would never confirm the charges. He acknowledged that in his own case, he would not have told the truth about his undercover agents, even under oath, to anybody except the President of the United States.

The counterpoint to this discussion was the oft-expressed sense of frustration about the FBI. The panel recognized its utter dependence on the FBI and its own inability to develop alternate sources of information. In anger, several Commissioners and J. Lee Rankin, the General Counsel, complained that the FBI was imposing its own conclusions on the Commission—that Oswald, acting alone, was President Kennedy's assassin—and that it simply wanted the panel to endorse the bureau's findings.

In what was the most dramatic executive session to date, the Commission took two hours to agree on instructions to Rankin on how to approach Hoover—without antagonizing him. As the session opened, Rankin summarized the situation for the Commissioners, repeating the information from Waggoner Carr, the Texas attorney general, that the charges concerning Oswald's possible connection with the FBI were developed in hearings in the chambers of the judge who was to preside over the forthcoming trial of Jack Ruby. According to Rankin, this came about when Ruby's lawyers asked for FBI materials to help prepare their case, but were turned down by Dallas County District Attorney Henry Wade on the request of the FBI. However, Carr said, according to Rankin, that the FBI might make an exception in this case because "Oswald was an undercover agent for the FBI." The seeming contradiction was never adequately explained—as so many other things were not made clear to the Commissioners—though it fitted into the strange theory developed at the Commission's meeting five days earlier that by leaking the suggestion that Oswald had been an FBI informer, the bureau would effectively close the case in terms of a conspiracy to kill President Kennedy.

The FBI, as we have seen, had rejected the conspiracy theory. The Commission was disturbed by the vagueness of the charges: the sources were a Houston newspaper and a Dallas County deputy sheriff who might have been repeating the newsman's story. The allegations were also published early in January in *The Nation*, and the Commission had a new Secret Service report repeating the charges.

Mr. Rankin: They said that the rumors were constant there that Oswald was an undercover agent, but they extended it also to the CIA, saying that they had a number for him assigned to him in connection with the CIA and gave that to him, and none of them had any original information of their own.

They said that the source of their information was a man by the name of Hudkins who was a reporter for the *Houston Post*, and that it had been circulated by a greater portion of all the reporters in the Dallas area who had been working on this matter in various forms . . . We did discover, amongst the

papers that we received from the Secret Service, a report . . . which referred to a Mr. [Allan L.] Sweatt, who was the Deputy Sheriff in Dallas County, in which he said that Oswald was an undercover agent and was being paid so much a month for some time back to September, and that it had a number which he gave and that report as No. 172. This report by the Secret Service agent was of a conference or inquiry that he made in the area to Sweatt back on December 17th. The report was dated January 3, and we didn't get it until January 23 . . . At the time when this matter first came to our attention, the Chief Justice asked [the] Secret Service agent who was working here, [that] if there was anything about this in their files that he would get it if there was and bring it to him directly personally . . .

We didn't know what to expect from this, because that was 20 days after the date of that report, and we wondered whether the Secret Service was withholding something from us, since they had this in their hands clear back on January 3 . . .

The explanation since has been that they were trying to check it out, that there was no purpose to withhold it from us even though it seemed like kind of a long period since they hadn't gotten any further report from Mr. Sweatt at all . . .

Mr. Dulles: He was the one who gave it to the Secret Service?

Mr. Rankin: Yes . . . They have since then, the Secret Service, has investigated, we asked them to, and they have gone to Sweatt and Sweatt has said he got it from Hudkins. Back to the same source . . . And there is nothing that we have received from any investigative agency checking out Hudkins in regard to this report . . . Those stories we generally discount as possibly an effort to blame the FBI for some of the matters involved . . . [Wade] did say he has had considerable experience with the FBI, and knew their practices, that he handled as much as \$2,000 a month during the war period in which he paid off informers and undercover agents in South America, and he knew that it wasn't revealed on any records he ever handled who he was paying it to and he never got any receipts, and it wasn't the practice to get receipts; that he would have a list of numbers in his office, that was one of the most closely guarded records that he had, and he would put down the amount he paid off, including such people as the head of the government in Ecuador, or the police in Ecuador and he said that he was paying him more than his salary each month, so that they got better service than the local government did . . .

He was frank, however, about stating that he didn't know whether that practice continued, he didn't know how they were doing it, that was a long time ago and how the FBI would handle any such transaction now . . . He didn't indicate that he was sure that this was the case at all. He just indicated that it was a possibility, and some of the things that had happened he thought were curious. . . .

Having listened to Rankin's report, the Commission was faced with the puzzle of what it could—or should—do about the charges against the FBI. Sen. Russell asked whether these allegations could be cleared up. The immediate problem was whom to approach first.

Mr. Rankin: We thought, first, about approaching the Justice Department with a request that the Attorney General [Robert F. Kennedy] inform us as to the situation not only as to what he would say about whether Oswald was or was not an undercover agent, but also with the supporting data that

the Commission could rely upon, and there is some difficulty about doing that. As the head of the department, the FBI, of course, is under the attorney general, but I think we must frankly recognize amongst ourselves that there is a daily relationship there involved in the handling of the problems of the department and the work of the FBI for the department and that we wouldn't want to make that more difficult . . . that it is the feeling of the department, not the attorney general because he is not here, but Mr. Katzenbach, and Mr. Miller, assistant attorney general in charge of the Criminal Division, that such a request might be embarrassing, and at least would be difficult for the attorney general, and might, if urged, while we would get the information we desired, make very much more difficult for him to carry on the work of the department for the balance of his term.

Sen. Russell: If he would transmit to us what they told him, the FBI has a very large measure of autonomy in their operations.

Mr. Rankin: In light of that, I suggested the possibility for the Commission to consider that I should go over and see Edgar Hoover myself, and tell him this problem and that he should have as much interest as the Commission in trying to put an end to any such speculations, not only by his statement, which I would be frank to tell him I would think would not be sufficient, but also if it was possible to demonstrate by whatever records and materials they have that it just couldn't be true, and see if we couldn't get his cooperation to present that with the understanding that the Commission at the time, the Commission would have to feel free to make such other investigation and take testimony if it found it necessary, in order to satisfy the American people that this question of an undercover agent was out of the picture. To examine [James P.] Hosty, the FBI agent who was working in that area, and to examine the special agent in charge of the area, and to examine Mr. Hoover, under oath, right up the line. . . . We do have a dirty rumor that is very bad for the Commission, the problem and it is very damaging to the agencies that are involved in it and it must be wiped out insofar as it is possible to do so by this Commission. . . .

Chairman: Well, Lee and I both agreed that we shouldn't leave this thing in this present posture, that we should go ahead and try to clear the matter up as best we can. We did argue a little about the approach, whether we should go first to the FBI and ask them for an explanation or whether we should first go and try to see if there is any substance to the claim by interrogating the newspaperman who claims that he has the knowledge of the situation, or whether we should first go to the bureau . . . Lee felt it would be the better part of cooperation to go over and see Mr. Hoover and tell him frankly what the rumor was, state that it is pure rumor, we haven't evaluated the facts, but ask him, first, if it is true, and secondly if he can supply us with information to establish that these facts are not true, and they are inconsistent with what would be the way of operation of their bureau . . . I rather dislike going to the FBI and just ask them to establish to us that a rumor can't be true until we have at least looked into it.

Sen. Russell: If you went down there in the first instance to the FBI and got a statement and when you start pursuing it you would look like you are impeaching . . . I think the best way to handle it would be to try to exhaust it at the other hand before you go to the FBI

Rep. Boggs: . . . If you get a statement from responsible officials in that agency and then you say, "Well, we are not going to take this statement on face value, we are going to go behind it," this could become a matter of grave embarrassment to everybody

Still, as the Commissioners were beginning to realize, there was no assured way of doing away with the allegations linking Oswald to the FBI. The point that dawned on the Commission was that intelligence agencies tend to deny such charges regardless of their accuracy. And the Commission could not even be certain that the FBI would be telling the truth in denying the Texas charges. Allen Dulles's expert opinion on intelligence agency practices served to compound the doubts.

Sen. Russell: If Oswald never had assassinated the President or at least been charged with assassinating the President and had been in the employ of the FBI and somebody had gone to the FBI they would have denied he was an agent.

Mr. Dulles: Oh, yes.

Sen. Russell: They would be the first to deny it. Your agents would have done exactly the same thing.

Mr. Dulles: Exactly. . . .

Sen. Cooper: If you have these people up from Texas and examine them, of course the FBI will know that.

Mr. Rankin: They already know about this apparently . . . I just don't think that they [the Texas officials] are going to come out and say they fabricated this, if it is a fabrication. It is too serious for that.

Rep. Boggs: Of course, we get ourselves into a real box. You have got to do everything on earth to establish the facts one way or the other. And without doing that, why everything concerned, including everyone of us is doing a very grave disservice. . . .

Sen. Cooper: . . . Before you asked Mr. Hoover you present us with all the proof to the contrary, because as you say, if he presents all this proof to the contrary, then the situation changes a little bit. It would appear to him that you are trying to impeach his testimony. . . .

Mr. McCloy: Do we have a statement from Mr. Hoover that this man was not an agent? Was that communicated in the record?

Mr. Rankin: Yes. . . .

Mr. McCloy: I would like to examine again this relationship between the Department of Justice and the FBI. Just why would it be embarrassing for the attorney general of the United States to inquire of one of his agencies whether or not this man who was alleged to have killed the President of the United States, was an agent.

Does the embarrassment supersede the importance of getting the best evidence in such a situation as this?

Mr. Rankin: Well, I think it is a question of whether we have to put him into that position in order to get the job done, because there is, in my opinion, not any question but what there will be more friction, more difficulty with his carrying out his responsibilities, and I think we have a very real problem in this Commission in that if we have meetings all

the time and they know what it is about ... and we are meeting rather rapidly here in the last few days, and they can guess probably what it is about, certainly after the meeting with the Texas people. ...

Sen. Cooper: In view of all the rumors and statements that have been made not only here but abroad, I think to ask the President's brother, the dead President, to do this, it wouldn't have any backing in it. It would have no substance in his purpose but some crazy people would translate it from his official position to a personal position. It may sound far fetched but he would be implying as a person that something was wrong. You can't overlook any implications.

Mr. McCloy: I think that would perhaps be an element in the thing, but it still wouldn't divert me from asking this man who happens to be the attorney general whose sworn duty it is to enforce justice, to ask him just what is within his knowledge in regard to such a serious thing as this. It is [an] awkward affair. But as you said the other day, truth is our only client ... I think we may have to make this first step, that the senator speaks about, but I don't think that we could recognize that any door is closed to us, unless the President closes it to us, and in the search for the truth

Mr. Rankin: I don't see how the country is ever going to be willing to accept it if we don't satisfy them on this particular issue, not only with them but the CIA and every other agency

Mr. McCloy: In reading over this testimony again, this morass of testimony or evidence we have got here, I notice that Mrs. Oswald, the mother, said perhaps he was an agent, perhaps he might have been an agent, in trying to explain why he went to the Soviet Union.

Chairman: She has made statements on that. ...

Mr. Dulles: Since this has been so much out in the public, what harm would there be in talking to Hoover without waiving any right to make any investigation in the public ... There is a terribly hard thing to disprove, you know. How do you disprove a fellow was not your agent. How do you disprove it.

Rep. Boggs: You could disprove it, couldn't you?

Mr. Dulles: No.

Rep. Boggs: I know, ask questions about something—

Mr. Dulles: I never knew how to disprove it.

Rep. Boggs: Did you have agents about whom you had no record whatsoever?

Mr. Dulles: The record might not be on paper. But on paper would have hieroglyphics that only two people knew what they meant, and nobody outside of the agency would know and you could say this meant the agent and somebody else could say it meant another agent.

Rep. Boggs: Let's take a specific case, that fellow Powers was one of your men.

Mr. Dulles: Oh, yes, he was not an agent. He was an employee.

The reference is to Francis Powers, the U-2 pilot, who was shot

down over the Soviet Union in 1960

Rep. Boggs: There was no problem in proving he was employed by the CIA.

Mr. Dulles: No. We had a signed contract.

Rep. Boggs: Let's say Powers did not have a signed contract but he was recruited by someone in CIA. The man who recruited him would know, wouldn't he?

Mr. Dulles: Yes, but he wouldn't tell.

Chairman: Wouldn't tell it under oath?

Mr. Dulles: I wouldn't think he would tell it under oath, no ... He ought not tell it under oath. Maybe not tell it to his own government but wouldn't tell it any other way.

Mr. McCloy: Wouldn't he tell it to his own chief?

Mr. Dulles: He might or might not. If he was a bad one then he wouldn't.

Rep. Boggs: What you do is you make out a problem if this be true, make our problem utterly impossible because you say this rumor can't be dissipated under any circumstances.

Mr. Dulles: I don't think it can unless you believe Mr. Hoover, and so forth and so on, which probably most of the people will.

Mr. McCloy: Allen, suppose somebody when you were head of the CIA came to you, another government agency and said specifically, "If you will tell us," suppose the President of the United States comes to you and says, "Will you tell me, Mr. Dulles?"

Mr. Dulles: I would tell the President of the United States anything, yes, I am under his control. He is my boss. I wouldn't necessarily tell anybody else, unless the President authorized me to do it. We had that come up at times.

Mr. McCloy: You wouldn't tell the Secretary of Defense?

Mr. Dulles: Well, it depends a little bit on the circumstances. If it was within the jurisdiction of the Secretary of the Defense, but otherwise I would go to the President, and I do on some cases.

Mr. Rankin: If that is all that is necessary, I think we could get the President to direct anybody working for the government to answer this question. ...

Mr. Dulles: What I was getting at, I think under any circumstances, I think Mr. Hoover would say certainly he didn't have anything to do with this fellow.

Mr. McCloy: Mr. Hoover didn't have anything to do with him but his agent. Did you directly or indirectly employ him?

Mr. Dulles: But if he says no, I didn't have anything to do with it. You can't prove what the facts are. There are no external evidences. I would believe Mr. Hoover. Some people might not. I don't think there is any external evidence other than the person's word that he did or did not employ a particular man as a secret agent. No matter what.

Mr. McCloy: If we get a statement from the Department that the Attorney General and perhaps from Mr. Hoover or from Mr. Hoover which said, "I am telling you that this man was not in any way employed by the FBI", or in the case of John McCloy or the CIA, I think that probably stops us, unless we

September 27, 1975

31

into something—

Dulles: That would be all right with me. Whether it meets the others—

McCloy: Now there is put in our hand a document that says he was paid a certain amount of money. Maybe we would have to go further than that but I think it would be most incumbent upon us to ask the head of the agencies whether or not this man was an employee.

Boggs: Just to examine a little further your statement. I would believe that could establish whether or not this fellow \$200 a month, almost certainly establish it.

Dulles: How could you? He is dead and you haven't got a bank account or anything of that kind.

Russell: The only trouble is these undercover agents they don't keep one line of writing, not one word anywhere.

Dulles: Sometimes you very often, in the Soviet, they did in the time, they wanted to compromise a person and they would deliberately see that there was a record, they would put it, and they would force money on people, and force people to give receipts, sometimes they would want to do that. But that is when you are, I don't know whether too much of this should be on the record as far as the Soviet is concerned. If you want to incriminate someone and tie them to you, you would give them money and give them a receipt. That doesn't by any means overlap. But on occasion.

Russell: Is that when you would want to blackmail him?

Dulles: That is correct. Klaus Fuchs, take [Alger] Hiss out of the rug, they wanted to have some evidence, he couldn't get away then, he was caught, he was trapped. . . .

Rankin: Allen, how would you feel about it, if you were head of the CIA now, and the same claim was made and this Commission was worried about the claim being believed by the public, and they would ask you, would you want the Commission to come to you directly?

Dulles: Oh, yes, certainly I would.

Rankin: Or would you want us to go out and examine witnesses first?

Dulles: I think I would want you to come so I could give you leads as to how you could examine witnesses if you wanted to.

Rankin: If you had us out examining witnesses about whether you had the man in your employ, would you feel that were not very fair to you?

Dulles: No, I don't think I would. . . .

McCloy: Do you think it might be quite appropriate for . . . ?

Dulles: It would depend whether there were international complications or foreign governments involved, then I might say we would do it in this way or that way to keep from getting in trouble with the foreign country. But as far as the . . .

McCloy: But wouldn't we be putting your agency in great trouble if we went out finding out who your agents were and put out the report and make it public knowledge, wouldn't

you think it strange if we didn't come to you with our problem?

Mr. Dulles: Yes, I think it would be. . . .

Mr. Rankin: Then you would leave doubt you were out investigating around before you had any real leads.

Mr. McCloy: We might get a lead and then we have it and then we have to publish.

Sen. Russell: There is no man in the employ of the federal government who stands higher in the opinion of the American people than J. Edgar Hoover.

Mr. Dulles: That is right.

Sen. Russell: Of course, we can get an affidavit from Mr. Hoover and put it in this record and go on and act on that but if we didn't go any further than that, and we don't pursue it down to Hudkins or whoever it is, there still would be thousands of doubting Thomases who would believe this man was an FBI agent and you just didn't try to clear it up and you just took Hoover's word.

Personally, I would believe J. Edgar Hoover, I have a great deal of confidence in him. . . . But the other people—I would believe, a simple statement as Holy Writ, this one statement without being under oath, but you can't try cases that way, and you can't base the conclusions of this Commission on that kind of material. . . .

Mr. McCloy: I think it would be wrong for us to start an independent examination of who the agents of this, of the various law enforcement agencies of the country were without notifying the head of that agency that we were doing it and why we were doing it. . . . You would communicate with the head of the agency, whether it be the attorney general or Mr. Hoover or John McCone, whoever it might be, at the same time you would be taking a look at Hudkins [The newspaperman]. . . .

Mr. McCloy: They [The FBI] are not on notice of these last developments in the Commission, the last information.

Sen. Cooper: They probably have notice that these people have been here, and therefore suspect already that we are looking into it because knowing exactly what we are doing. . . .

Mr. McCloy: Katzenbach says they will be embarrassed.

Mr. Rankin: Greatly embarrassed. . . .

Chairman: But they seemed to think there would be no embarrassment for us to check it out ourselves. They think that is all right, they think it is all right for us to do that. . . . I am not going to be thin-skinned about what Mr. Hoover might think, but I am sure if we indicated to Mr. Hoover that we were investigating him he would be just as angry at us as he was, or would be at the Attorney General for investigating him. . . . The better way to do it would be to try to establish in our own minds whether or not there is any truth to this thing. . . . and if we decide that there is nothing to it except rumor, as far as we can find, I would still ask Mr. Hoover to report to us on it, tell him that this rumor has persisted, that Oswald was on the payroll of the FBI, and that the date of his employment was stated, his number was stated, his wages were stated, and that we would like anything he has in his records or through his investigation to disprove that thing.

Now, I don't see how a man in a public position whose own reputation is at stake in the thing, could object to such procedure. I don't think that is unfriendly in any way, shape or form. But I do believe, if we just go and indicate to Mr. Hoover that we are now investigating his probity without having tried to determine whether it is fact or fiction, that he might have reason to believe that we were doing it. . . .

Mr. Dulles: We ought to go to him.

Chairman: We must go into this thing from both ends, from the end of the rumormongers and from the end of the FBI, and if we come into a cul-de-sac, why, we are there but we can report on it. . . .

Mr. Dulles: I agree . . . I don't think there is necessarily a question of probity. It might look so to the country. It is Mr. Hoover's job to watch the Fair Play for Cuba Committee and to try to penetrate it in any way he could. The reason I don't believe it is this fellow was so incompetent that he was not the kind of fellow that Hoover would hire. If this fellow was hired, I wouldn't discredit this might be a normal thing to do, but he was so stupid. Hoover didn't hire this kind of a stupid fellow, but for him to want to penetrate the Fair Play for Cuba Committee and find out what it is doing in this country is just as much of his duty as it is to penetrate the Communist Party in this country and he has been doing that right along. . . .

Mr. McCloy: I wouldn't put much confidence in the intelligence of all the agents I have run into. I have run into some awfully stupid agents.

Mr. Dulles: Not this irresponsible.

Mr. McCloy: Well, I can't say that I have run into a fellow comparable to Oswald but I have run into some very limited mentalities both in the CIA and the FBI.

(Laughter)

Chairman: Under agents, the regular agents, I think that would be right, but they and all other agencies do employ undercover men who are of terrible character.

Mr. Dulles: Terribly bad characters.

Sen. Russell: Limited intelligence, even the city police departments do it.

Chairman: It takes almost that kind of a man to do a lot of this undercover work.

Mr. Dulles: They ought to be fairly smart. They may not be of high moral character but they ought to be fairly smart.

Mr. McCloy: Most of them certainly are. But you couldn't base an argument on the fact that the man, because he is not intelligent hasn't been retained.

Mr. Rankin: Would it be acceptable to go to Mr. Hoover and tell him about the situation and that we would like to go ahead and find out what we could . . . Then if he reacts and says, "I want to show you that it couldn't be", or something like that, beforehand, what about that kind of an approach?—

Chairman: I don't believe we should apologize or make it look that we are in any way reticent about making any investigation that comes to the Commission.

But on the other hand, I don't want to be unfriendly or unfair to him. . . .

Mr. Rankin: What I was fearful of was the mere process will cause him [Hoover] to think that we are really investigating him.

Chairman: If you tell him we are going down there to do it, we are investigating him, aren't we?

Mr. Rankin: I think it is inherent.

Chairman: If we are investigating him, we are investigating the rumor against him, we are investigating him, that is true. . . .

Rep. Boggs: Mr. Dulles, when you headed up the CIA, the notion that you would know the countless informers and people employed by the agencies was fantastic. You couldn't know about all of that.

Mr. Dulles: No, but after a thing like this happens and it is in the paper two or three times I would get hold of the proper person and say, "Have we hired anybody in that particular area?" By this time I would have known whether we did hire him or not . . . I had to authorize it. I had to trust that to the other agents.

Mr. McCloy: You would know in this case who, if there was anybody, who would have hired Oswald, who it would be.

Mr. Dulles: Certainly within an area, certainly no one had authority to do it. Now someone might have done it without authority. The CIA has no charter to hire anybody for this kind of work in the United States. It has abroad, that is the distinction . . . I don't say it [The CIA] couldn't possibly have done it, but it has no charter of authority to run this kind of agent in the United States; that would be other departments of government, particularly the FBI. We wouldn't investigate the Fair Play for Cuba Committee in the United States, in the CIA. But there is no reason why an inquiry shouldn't go. . . .

Actually, Dulles was misleading the Commission with his statement that because of its charter confining it to operations abroad, the CIA was not involved in domestic intelligence activities. The report of the Rockefeller Commission on "CIA Activities Within the United States," issued in June, 1975, asserted that the agency had been conducting a covert and illegal program of international mail interception at American post offices since 1952. This activity continued during Dulles' tenure as CIA Director and subsequently.

Meanwhile, as McCloy pointed out, the possible link between Oswald and the FBI as well as the question of whether there was a relationship between Oswald and Jack Ruby will "loom up in all probability to be . . . major issues in our investigation."

Mr. McCloy: If he was on the payroll of the FBI they would think he was all right, they would not think of his being a defector . . . It is going to, I think, foment a good bit of comment, and we are going to have to have a very solid record on it. . . .

Mr. Rankin: At the police station, just after the assassination, Hosty, the agent for the FBI in the Dallas area, said that he knew that Oswald had visited two known subversives . . . within two weeks of the day of assassination. . . .

Mr. Dulles: Has Hosty been talked to later to get the names?

Mr. Rankin: Nobody has asked him . . .

Mr. McCloy: This brings up to my mind again the desirability

of our talking to the chief investigator of the FBI. We here don't know whether somebody checked up on Hosty again or whether he didn't. Why don't we get him in and just talk with him. I don't know whether we want to examine him under oath but talk to him about the extent of the FBI investigation . . . What have they done? . . . I would think the time is almost overdue for us being as dependent as we are on FBI investigations, the time is almost overdue for us to have a better perspective of the FBI investigation than we now have.

McCloy's exasperation with the Commission's utter dependence on the FBI underscored how nearly impossible was the task facing the Warren Commission. The Commission, having rejected at its first meeting, and on Warren's suggestion, the idea of engaging its own investigators, was now totally at the mercy of the FBI, an agency it wholly distrusted. Yet the Commission was being inexorably pushed by the FBI to accept the bureau's conclusions.

Rankin told McCloy that, in fact, it was not viable to end the Commission's dependence on the FBI.

Mr. Rankin: We had hoped to do that about two and a half weeks ago and we were going to come back to them with a great many obvious questions, and holes in what we have been given. But then we got a supplemental report, and it filled in some of the holes but not all of them, two-thirds of them or more . . . and we didn't want to ask them questions that they would say, 'well haven't you read our supplemental report, it is all there.' Our relations would break down very rapidly if we did business that way, so we had to go and analyze all the new material and, not only the supplemental report, but all their additional raw materials they gave us at that time, and now we are in the process of trying to give them demands. . . .

Mr. McCloy: . . . We are so dependent upon them (The FBI) for our facts that it might be a useful thing to have him before us, or may be just you talk to him, for example, to follow up on Hosty.

The reference is to Belmont, the FBI official in charge of the investigation.

Mr. Rankin: Part of our difficulty in regard to it is that they have no problem. They have decided that it is Oswald who committed the assassination, they have decided that no one else was involved, they have decided. . . .

Sen. Russell: They have tried the case and reached a verdict on every aspect.

Rep. Boggs: You have put your finger on it.

Mr. McCloy: They are a little less certain in the supplementals than they were in the first.

Mr. Rankin: Yes, but they are still there. They have decided the case, and we are going to have maybe a thousand further inquiries that we say the Commission has to know all these things before it can pass on this.

And I think their reaction probably would be, "Why do you want all that? It is clear."

Sen. Russell: "You have our statement, what else do you need?"

Mr. McCloy: Yes, "We know who killed cock robin." That is the point. It isn't only who killed cock robin. Under the terms

of reference we have to go beyond that.

Rep. Boggs: The most difficult aspect of this is the Ruby aspect.

Mr. Rankin: That is one very difficult area. Then you have some clear proof of some kind of a Cuban connection there, and there is a difference in regard to the testimony of what it is. You run into clear proof that his brother had some kind of a Cuban connection . . . in Detroit, but that sort of dries up when we try to get at the detail of what it is

Rankin was referring to reports that Ruby and his brother were engaged in an effort to sell surplus jeeps to Cuba in 1959, after Premier Fidel Castro took power. Jack Ruby, in fact, visited Havana in 1959.

Chairman: Well, Lee, as I understand your approach would be this: You would go to Mr. Hoover and say, "Now, Mr. Hoover, as you know, there are rumors that persist in and around Dallas and it is getting into the national press, to the effect that Oswald was an undercover FBI agent. The rumor has gone to the extent of stating the date on which he was employed, the number under which he was employed, and the amount of money that he received for his services, and that continued up until the time of the assassination.

"Now we are going to have to try to run that rumor down to see if anyone claims positive knowledge or whether it is plain rumor.

"Can you, and will you, give us all the information that you have which will enable us to ferret that thing out, to the very limit?"

Mr. Rankin: That is what I would like to do. Reserving at the same time the right to go to these other people and take their testimony.

Chairman: That would be implicit in it

Mr. Rankin: I had in mind going to Mr. Hoover and asking him for more than his expression of the truth or falsity of it. Asking him for what he knows his organization presumably, what can he do to help us in regard to the proof of the facts in regard to this particular . . . I am sure Mr. Hoover knows many of these, he may not know about particular individuals, just like Mr. Dulles wouldn't, but he knows who to ask, and ring a button and say, for the record how could we establish this? . . . I am sure within the FBI Mr. Hoover knows where to find out who was hired on any particular date and the basis of it, and I thought if it was my situation, and I was being reflected on that I had had somebody like this under my employ I would like to be approached, first, and I wouldn't feel that it was a reflection on me, or at least I would feel the reflection was already involved in these kinds of articles and claims, and I would rather you would come to me than to go to someone else and ask him about the rumors, and let me see if I couldn't establish it. I don't think the country is going to be satisfied with the mere statement . . . about any intelligence agency that Oswald wasn't hired in light of this kind of an accusation, or rumor.

I think that the country is going to expect this Commission to try to find out the facts, as to how those things are handled to such an extent that this Commission can fairly say, "In our opinion, he was or was not an employee of any intelligence agency of the United States." . . .

Dulles then made the practical suggestion that Rankin ask Hoover to let him see any reports from FBI agents who had contact with Oswald on different occasions. Rankin replied that the Commission had such reports, "but we don't have any assurances that those are the only reports . . . there could be more reports and all that kind of thing." As we learned in 1975, Rankin was right in his suspicions. He also noted that it was a "curious factor" that FBI agents did not approach Oswald after an interview with him in August although they did talk to Marina Oswald and Ruth Paine during October. It was the October approach to Marina by the FBI that led Oswald in November to write his threatening letter to the Bureau, but the Warren Commission did not know about it at the time. There is no explanation, either, as to why the FBI did not seek out Oswald after he wrote the letter. It could be theorized that had such an FBI contact been made, Oswald might have been prevented from committing the Dallas crime.

Sen. Russell remarked that it was a "queer thing" that the FBI interviewed Marina and Ruth Paine, but not Oswald. Rankin recalled that, according to Marina, two FBI agents had talked to Oswald for two hours in a car shortly after he had returned to the United States in 1962, and that Oswald "was very much disturbed." But, he said, "we don't have any report that would cover anything like a two hour conversation." This, then, was another instance in which the Commission had to weigh the relative credibility of the FBI and such witnesses as Marina Oswald. Finally, Sen. Russell told his colleagues that they had to face reality.

Sen. Russell: It seems to me we have two alternatives. One is we can just accept the FBI's report and go on and write the report based on their findings and supported by the raw materials they have given us, or else we can go and try to run down some of these collateral rumors that have just not been dealt with directly in this raw material that we have.

Rep. Boggs: I think we must do the latter

Chairman: I think there is no question about it

Mr. McCloy: We certainly wouldn't be doing the FBI a service and doing the Commission a service

Sen. Russell: I don't propose to attack the FBI unless there is some startling revelation that they have evaded their responsibility

Mr. Rankin: I thought from what I know about him [Hoover] that he would say, "We will do anything we can to help you. We will make anything available from our records," and then I would say to him, "You know your records and I don't. What will prove that this rumor is false?"

Chairman: From his standpoint, he couldn't possibly have any proof other than his statement.

Mr. Rankin: Well, he may have a lot of proof

Finally, the Commission voted unanimously to let Rankin approach Hoover in whatever way he thought best. After hours of discussion—and all the handwringing about upsetting Hoover—the Commission was, in effect, turning the responsibility to its general counsel.

Rankin then outlined at length the areas of investigation the Commission should pursue. The first area would be the day of the assassination, including all the Presidential plans and the collaboration between the Secret Service, the Dallas police, and the county sheriff. Rankin stressed that "we have difficulty determining the exact time" that Oswald went to Mexico although, presumably,

he already knew from newspaper reports late in September that President Kennedy would be coming to Texas in late November. Rankin further argued that a visit to Texas would necessarily include a stop in Dallas, and that the President's motorcade would have to move past the Texas School Book Depository building.

Mr. Rankin: . . . So it is possible he could have made as part of his plans from the time he left to go to Mexico City to try to locate in this building and go ahead with the assassination.

Now, that would assume that it is possible that he talked to people about such plans, and had collaborators concerning them in Mexico City. We do not have enough information about that to know what happened there except we do have information that he tried to get a visa at the Cuban Embassy, and he tried to get a visa at the Soviet Embassy, and we know the hotel he stayed at, and we have a very limited report from the hotel keeper about most of it to the effect that they knew nothing about him, didn't even know that he came or went, although there were seven days between the time he went down on the 26th of September and the third [of October] when he came back. . . . So that we have a wide range of inquiry yet in Mexico City as to the seven days and his activities there.

Sen. Russell: Who has been doing the investigating in Mexico?

Mr. Rankin: The CIA has been working with us in regard to that area, and the FBI has an attaché there who has done some work but most of it has been by the CIA, and we have a question there of how much of our information we have gotten from the FBI in an exhibit to the CIA and prior to that.

Rankin then turned to the details of Oswald's attempt the previous April to assassinate retired Maj. Gen. Edwin A. Walker, his account of it to Marina, and her threat to denounce him to the authorities if he ever repeated such an act. The attempt on Walker's life became known only after Dallas. Rankin told the Commissioners that it was strange that, according to Marina's testimony to the FBI, she had not known that Oswald had gone to Mexico. Another area of investigation outlined by Rankin was the question of President Kennedy's wounds—the point of exit or entrance of the bullet in the front of the neck. He noted that all this material "has to be developed much more than we have at the present time." Rankin pointed to contradictions between Dallas medical reports and the subsequent autopsy. He added: "So the basic problem, what kind of a wound it is in the front of the neck, is of great importance to the investigation." The Commission's uncertainty on this point, of course, would become later the subject of continuing controversy as to how many shots—and from where—were fired at Kennedy.

Mr. Rankin: . . . We think that the wound in the neck has to be related to one of these others, but the problem is difficult to determine because we have a statement from the hospital that the bullet that was more whole than the other was found on the stretcher which they brought the President in to the hospital on, and then we have other testimony later that goes back over the same ground in which the person in charge of the stretcher and the attendant said that this bullet was found under the blanket on the stretcher Gov. Connally was on.

Sen. Russell: I thought it was found on the stretcher of the President.

Mr. Rankin: That was the first story. And that is what we have to deal with, a story of that kind to try to reconcile it with people who actually handled the stretcher that Gov. Connally

and picked the bullet from under the blanket.

ussell: This isn't going to be something that would run
irk mad

Rankin: We have considerable material and we are going
to the atmosphere, this hate material that was very
in in that area in many regards: It was in the
papers, it was in circulars of various kinds, it was in
to the editor in the newspaper. It was also involved in
is from the pulpit in some of those, in at least one of the
churches of the city, was involved in financing various
of hate literature in very large amounts from that
lar area, and it may well be that it was a contributing
in not just as was suggested by some as far as the
e right is concerned, but also in stirring up various
its of the community who were expressing themselves
r extreme forms against anybody in power—from the
ent on down from time to time. . . . The pamphlets were
only circulated there, and I presume you are familiar
ome of the H. L. Hunt's financing of various . . . And all
f things coming from out there in substantial amounts
pparently was not only exacerbating the community in
ber of ways, not only of the extreme right and the
e left, but also the elements of the people more
ately inclined who didn't assert themselves in regard to
. . . and if you let those forces work long enough it will
n effect upon their approach to many problems, and it
e something that the country should well be aware of.

ussell: Do you think there is evidence of any connection
en Oswald and any of those groups? The FBI is
sed to check that out pretty closely.

Rankin: We have no evidence that is clear that Oswald
onected with anybody but we also have very great
ms

Cooper: . . . I think we might talk about this hate element
rch because . . . people will begin to get the idea, as some
already expressed, of going away from evidence and
to build up some situation which is apart from the
ice

Rankin: Then in the period that they [The Oswalds] lived
ssia, there are manifold problems about the fact that the
ve lived, the additional income he received under the
of the Red Cross . . . the question of when that income
nated. She said he had never been to Leningrad. He said
d; she went to Kharkov, and there is no explanation of
ommunications between the two of them during that
l of time.

Rankin went on emphasizing the Commission's lack of knowledge
a whole variety of aspects of Oswald's life in the Soviet Union:
ie was paid so much, why the Oswalds moved to a better
nent just as they tried to arrange to go to the US, why she was
d to leave Russia, what did Oswald do in Moscow for a
i before departing for the US, why he belonged to a Soviet gun
and why, on the way to the US, the Oswalds took an
ment in Rotterdam. Rankin said: "That entire period is just
possibilities for training, for working with the Soviets, and it
i"

Dulles: If she has any chance to tell the Russian Embassy,
't know whether she will do it or not, she might after this

interview, she might get in touch in some way with the
Russian Embassy, they would be very anxious to get in touch
with her. I guess the guard is such that they couldn't do that.

Mr. Rankin: . . . The Secret Service has been with her
constantly . . . I don't know how much longer after we would
take her testimony you would want that to continue . . . It
hasn't, it isn't going forward yet because we have to ask them
about that, and the CIA is going to help us develop the
questions, and they have been working

*The next investigation area would be the life of Jack Ruby.
Rankin drew a quick biography of Ruby, then went into his
activities.*

He has apparently all kinds of connections with the
underworld, and he had a number of petty arrests, but the
convictions were very unimportant. There weren't any — I
can't even remember one that amounted to anything.

Mr. Dulles: He never got to jail, did he?

Mr. Rankin: No, he paid a small fine on one or two. There are
stories about his being a homosexual, and those don't pan out
as far as any real proof, but it seems to be very current. There
are also all kinds of stories about his girls and striptease girls
and that they — he spent time with them all the time, and
there are some stories that he is a bisexual.

There isn't any question but what he planned to go down to
Cuba, and he did, and the story was that it was in regard to
armaments . . . My recollection is that one of the stories was
that he was to try to sell guns and ammunition to Castro.

Chairman: And jeeps . . .

Mr. Rankin: That is all denied, and that he was going down
there to make the money on other kinds of sales but not
anything that was munitions or armaments. There is no
explanation of where he was there, what he did, or who his
connections were. He had all kinds of connections with the
minor underworld, I think you would call it, in Dallas and
Chicago, but I don't — it isn't apparent that any of the
important people in the underworld would have given him
any consideration at all

Now, it would seem that he might have — he might be the
kind of person they might try to use. He was a habitue
apparently of the police department, and was able to go to any
part of it at any time, and they knew him

Sen. Cooper: There hasn't anything been developed to show
that they knew each other.

Mr. Rankin: There is no showing of connection, there is no
showing that Oswald was the kind of person that would hang
around the joints that Ruby had, either

*The Commission apparently gave no credence to claims by a
Dallas attorney who told the FBI that he overheard Oswald and
Ruby discussing on October 4 (the day after Oswald returned from
Mexico) plans to assassinate Gov. Connally of Texas. The attorney
said the meeting was at Ruby's Dallas nightclub, the Carousel.*

*On January 29, Texas Attorney General Waggoner Carr wrote
Rankin, suggesting that the Directors of the FBI and the CIA be
asked to provide the names of all their agents who were in the Dallas
area between August and December, 1963. This was in reference to
the allegations that Oswald had served as an FBI undercover
informer.*

On February 4, Carr wrote another letter to Rankin, complaining that the Commission had broken its commitment to the Texas Court of Inquiry that it would let it participate in the Washington-based investigation. The Commission had taken Marina Oswald's testimony after its January 27 session but Texas representatives were not invited. Although this letter, too, is in the Archives, its existence became known only in September, 1975. Carr told *The New Republic* that the Commission had committed a serious error in ignoring his suggestion that all Dallas-based FBI and CIA agents be interviewed.

Meeting of the Commission on February 24, 1964

This was a 10-minute session with only Chief Justice Warren, Sen. Cooper, Rep. Ford, Allen Dulles and General Counsel Rankin in attendance. The Commission was meeting for the first time in four weeks. In the meantime it had taken Marina Oswald's testimony, but it was still unable to dispose of the allegations that Oswald had been an FBI undercover agent. Rankin informed the Commission that affidavits had been obtained from FBI Director Hoover and individual bureau agents as well as interviews with Dallas officials and newspaper reporters. But, Rankin said, all the reports "show negative." Rankin went on to explain the status of the investigation.

Mr. Rankin: . . . As you recall, we informed you before that the address in the telephone number book of Lee Oswald had in it the name of [James] Hosty [the FBI agent], and his telephone number and his automobile license, and that it wasn't in the transcription of that information which was furnished to us by the FBI. And we have written to the FBI to ask them, an official inquiry, how that could happen, and to furnish us all of the information concerning that occurrence. And we have not received a reply yet.

Chairman: . . . Is there any . . . action needed?

Mr. Rankin: No. We plan to follow up on this whole problem, as the Commission has indicated, of claims about undercover agents, and we are going to report to you.

Rep. Ford: There will be reports from other agencies aside from the FBI?

Mr. Rankin: Yes, the same inquiry addressed to them . . .

Before adjourning, the Commission held a brief off-the-record discussion, not recorded by the official reporter.

Meeting of the Commission on March 16, 1964

The Commission held a three-minute meeting to approve a resolution governing the questioning of witnesses by staff members. The Commission had existed for three-and-a-half months at the time of this action. The session, attended by Chief Justice Warren, Sen. Cooper, Rep. Ford, John J. McCloy and General Counsel J. Lee Rankin, was the first one since February 24.

Meeting of the Commission on April 30, 1964

This executive meeting of the Commission was more than five weeks after the previous session. Chief Justice Warren, John J. McCloy and Allen Dulles met with Counsel Rankin, for two hours and 15 minutes. Rep. Ford was away in Michigan, Rep. Boggs was in Louisiana, Sen. Russell was busy at the Senate and Sen. Cooper could spend only 30 minutes with the Commission because of pressing Senate business.

Although the Commission had been working for nearly five

months and its staff had already conducted 300 interviews of witnesses, the Commissioners were still disturbed about the gaps and contradictions in the material they had been studying. The question of whether Lee Harvey Oswald might have been an FBI or CIA undercover agent remained unresolved. More than three months had elapsed since this allegation was first brought before the Commission — on January 22 — but FBI Director Hoover and CIA Director John A. McCone had not yet testified under oath on this point. This was the black cloud hanging over the Commission. Allegations concerning Oswald's ties with US intelligence agencies were appearing in the world press. Despite a decision by the Commission on January 27 that Mr. Rankin should confront Hoover about the Oswald problem, Sen. Cooper found it necessary on April 30 to insist that "it would be proper to call the heads" of the FBI and the CIA to testify on the Oswald claim. The Commission, it seemed, still feared a confrontation with Hoover. Cooper also urged that Secretary of State Dean Rusk be called to testify on Oswald's stay in Russia between 1959 and 1962, a period that continued to mystify the Commission. Finally Cooper expressed his concern about contradictions between testimony from witnesses before the Commission and press reports on interviews with the same witnesses. Five months into the investigation, the Commissioners had not yet set foot in Dallas; now Cooper was suggesting that the time had really come to visit the assassination site. And, above all the Commission kept worrying about its credibility. It also wondered whether the Secret Service had improved its methods for the protection of the President.

Mr. Dulles: . . . With regard to the State Department, I think we also ought to have some testimony from them as to the normal practice re American defectors to Russia, get some little background information . . . I was interested in this case reported just yesterday about this Soviet couple — the Soviets would not let them leave. I think there are different circumstances in the Oswald case. But still I think we ought to get a little of that testimony.

We had a little question the other day, when the Secret Service were here, about the information with regard to the protection of the President. Certain of that is undoubtedly classified, and we don't want to put on the record where the disclosure of it would endanger the President. But it seems to me that maybe the Commission should hear that testimony — because it is very difficult for us to judge and pass upon whether the protection is adequate or not without knowing what measures are being taken . . .

It was already clear that the Commission would not have its report completed on the secret June 1 target date. Rankin told the Commissioners that the transcripts of testimony, depositions and affidavits would be available to them in printed form around June 1. But the problem facing the Commission was how to mold all this material into a comprehensive report. The Commissioners were realizing that a report alone would not be enough, that actual testimony would have to be presented to the public as well.

Mr. Dulles: I suggest that we might want to consider sending a letter to the State Department, merely pressing them to get an answer, if they can, from the Soviet. I think that would be important for the record. The Soviet may not answer in time, anyway. But they always delay, and you never get an answer out of them if you don't keep pressing them.

Chairman: I have spoken twice within the last 10 days to the Secretary of State, and he has told me he is pressing them, and was going to speak to them personally on it several days

ago

Mr. McCloy: . . . To come back on the Secret Service report — that part of our charge which relates to the protection of the President . . . I was led to this belief more firmly after hearing from several of the Secret Service people that were testifying — even though there may be elements in that . . . I think we clearly never want to publish, because it might affect the future security of the President or people next in line — but that we ought to go into that . . . and then we can make up our mind what part of it . . . could securely be put on the record, and what could be eliminated.

There is one Secret Service man that I think we probably should have testify, and that is Mr. Clinton Hill, who I understand is the man who endeavored to get on the car just after the shots. He was the closest next to Mrs. Kennedy. He was the closest one to the scene, as the pictures show. He could give us some information that might be of pertinence. And I think it would be improvident of us not to hear his testimony at first hand

Then you don't have down here . . . any suggestion that we interview the President. I am not so sure it is necessary for us to inquire of the President, but I am inclined to think that maybe you or somebody — you, Mr. Chief Justice, could speak to him about it and see what he has to say. Maybe we don't have to put anything on the record — but maybe just to close that particular incident, with that particular piece of testimony.

McCloy appeared to be referring to the alleged ties between Oswald and the FBI.

Mr. McCloy: Then I am also conscious that you, Mr. Rankin, were anxious to get a little more information about Oswald's Mexican trip. There was a period there where there were some gaps.

Mr. Rankin: We got that. We sent a team down there. We have made a complete exploration of it. We are getting some additional material to follow up. But that will be very complete, everything that we could possibly get, and I think that the CIA and the FBI did a remarkably good job down there for us.

Chairman: As I understand it, they had the cooperation of the Mexican authorities, too

Mr. Dulles: . . . I am not entirely clear in my mind as to the scope of our responsibilities in a matter such as recommendations, as to whether any change should be made with regard to respective functions of the FBI and Secret Service in protecting the President . . . The question of transmitting guns in interstate commerce, and boxes at post offices in false names and things of that kind. Are those all matters within our general jurisdiction, to what extent, and should we just point them up, or are we supposed to make recommendations? . . .

Chairman: . . . There is nothing set about us making any recommendations in this area. But I have an idea that there is something implicit in the establishment of the Commission that we ought to not let this chance go by without at least trying to do what we can to better protect the lives of our Presidents

Mr. Dulles: . . . We were somewhat surprised, I think, to have the Secret Service testify that when they went down to Dallas, from their own files and records, they were not given a

single name that should be investigated or watched or taken care of

The theme of credibility was weighing heavily on Warren's mind, leading him to the extraordinary suggestion to involve the heads of the two principal US news services in the investigation. Warren's idea seemed to be that in this fashion the Commission would protect its flank at least as far as the wire services were concerned.

Chairman: . . . It might be a good thing if we were to ask to come down here the president of the Associated Press, and the president of United Press International, and tell them that we would like to have them examine their reports and files on the assassination, to confer with their people who are familiar with it, and then perhaps assign one of their top people who could come down here to see us and discuss on a confidential basis — not for publication — anything that may be in their minds as to what should be investigated.

I think that by doing that we could establish to them that we had investigated everything that they might have in their minds. And if there are any areas that are unexplored, we could explore them, and then at the end, perhaps, we could take the testimony of those two gentlemen and ask them — "Now, on the basis of all you have heard from your reporters and from your files and from everything that has been said and done, do you believe there is any area here that is unexplored, do you believe that there is any real conflict that should call for further investigation?" . . . And I am just of the opinion that we could get a statement from them that would be of a confirmatory nature so far as our report is concerned. And overseas I would think that if those men with the means they have at hand to get these rumors, and to look into them, that if they were satisfied, it would have a lot to do with allaying some of these rumors.

Mr. McCloy: I think this is an important suggestion, because the extent and the variety and the quantity of this type of article which has appeared throughout Europe makes our report all the more important in order to clarify this situation, because, generally speaking, from the reports that come to me [from] all Europe, . . . there is a deep-seated feeling that there is a *deep conspiracy* here, there are elements of suppression involved in it

Dulles thought that the Commission should obtain a copy of a book by the American writer Thomas Buchanan, published in London, raising the conspiracy theory. The book was available in every London bookstore, but Dulles offered to ask "my former associates" at the CIA to "arrange through the British services" to get a copy. This was a good example of how intelligence agencies do things the hard way. McCloy, also worried about opinion abroad, suggested that the State Department brief the Commission "so that we have a better concept of what the charges are and what our responsibilities are in connection with that." The Commission then held an off-the-record discussion, presumably on these subjects.

Cooper was concerned that the investigation was "weak" concerning Oswald's activities in the Soviet Union and the circumstances of his return to the United States in 1962. He wanted to know what the State Department had in its records on these points. He also wanted more information about George de Mohrenschildt, a Russian-born oil engineer who, along with his wife, was a member of the Russian-speaking community in Dallas. The couple had befriended Marina Oswald, and, curiously, they seemed to be the only people who had known well both the Oswalds

and President and Mrs. Kennedy. The deMohrenschildts were living in Haiti at the time of the assassination. There was a touch of mystery surrounding them, and after Warren told Copper that de Mohrenschildt had made a "full deposition," the Commission engaged in an off-the-record debate.

Next, the Commission worried for awhile about the cost of printing enough copies of the final report and accompanying volumes of testimony. Dulles agreed with Warren that most of the testimony (but not all) should be published "so nobody can say you have not tried to make the whole thing secret." Rankin commented that the Budget Bureau told him that "the Commission would get a lot of complaints from the public, and that the President would, too, if there wasn't the supporting materials ..." The Budget people, he said, thought that it would not be desirable just to print the report and place the other materials in the National Archives.

The Commission then turned to a discussion of Jack Ruby as a potential witness.

Mr. Rankin: The last thing that has happened on that ... is the question of his present competency to stand trial, and that issue, according to Texas law, is to be submitted to a jury ... I called (Henry) Wade, Prosecuting Counsel ... He said that this development had come up ... and we would probably not want to be taking any testimony until that question was resolved.

And I would recommend to you that we don't get involved in anything like that until that question is decided, because he might just use the Commission for an exhibit A as to his condition.

Mr. McCloy: I don't see how we can examine anybody whose competency to be examined is in question

[Jack Ruby was tried between February 17 and March 14, convicted of the murder, with malice, of Lee Harvey Oswald, and sentenced to death. His lawyers appealed the verdict on grounds of his incompetence.]

Mr. McCloy: You see, they have had the trial ... Now it is just this question — I suppose the allegation has frequently occurred — since the time of the trial, under sentence, this fellow has lost his competency, and you don't execute somebody who is incompetent.

Chairman: This, Allen, has absolutely no application legally to his sanity at the time of the commission of the crime. This has to do with his present sanity, and whether you can execute him in his present mental condition.

And if they find him insane, all it will do will be to suspend the power of the State to execute him until such time as they find he is no longer insane.

Mr. Dulles: Does he go to prison?

Mr. McCloy: He goes to a mental institution. It is perfectly clear we cannot examine him at this stage.

Chairman: ... I would think whether they find him sane or insane, if he is willing to talk to us, we should talk to him. Maybe we would not want to take his testimony. But if he is willing to talk to us, I think we ought to talk to him and take his story, and use it for the purpose of checking it out, if we can, and putting it into the record anyway ... But I would not do it at this stage.

Mr. McCloy: Whether he was sane or insane?

Chairman: Yes

The Commission turned again to the long-delayed question of some of its members traveling to Dallas to inspect the assassination site.

Mr. Rankin: Well, we have had several members that felt that there should be a visit by members of the Commission to Dallas before a report was made. I have had a number of the staff [who] felt that there probably would be criticism by the public if we didn't have someone from the Commission, maybe one member would be enough, to go down there and see the scene and come back and report to the rest of the members

Autopsy pictures of President Kennedy's body also seemed to pose a serious problem for the Commission as Rankin informed the panel. There were contradictions between the reports provided by Texas and National Naval Medical Center doctors, and Gov. John Connally's testimony concerning the trajectory of the assassin's bullets. The Commission appeared to be grappling with the same problems in this area as critics of the report were to do subsequently.

Mr. Rankin: ... We have a very serious problem in the record ... that the bullet ... probably passed through the President and then through Governor Connally. And we now have the testimony of Governor Connally that that couldn't have happened. He is certain it didn't happen. And that the bullet that struck him is one that did not hit the President.

We also have some drawings of President Kennedy which are reconstructions by the men that participated in the autopsy. And these men have not seen those pictures of the autopsy, but they had these drawings made, and we don't know whether those drawings conform to the pictures of the autopsy or not.

Now, I thought we could avoid having those pictures being a part of our record, because the family has a strong feeling about them, and I think we should respect it insofar as can possibly be done, and carry out the work of the Commission—because they don't want the President to be remembered in connection with those pictures

But I do feel that a doctor and some member of the Commission should examine them sufficiently so that they could report to the Commission that there is nothing inconsistent with the other findings in connection with the matter in those pictures. In that way we can avoid any question that we have passed anything up that the Commission should know or that we haven't tried to take advantage of information that should be available to us

Chairman: ... But without putting those pictures in our record. We don't want those in our record ... It would make it a morbid thing for all time to come

The Commissioners went back, once more, to their discussion of whether Hoover and McCone should testify before the group about the allegations that Oswald may have been an FBI or CIA undercover agent. They had been dealing with it, inconclusively, for over three months.

Chairman: ... I am inclined to think that we ought to take their testimony. And there is another reason I would like to take their testimony — because of statements both from the right and the left, that there has been a conspiracy. I would like to ask Edgar Hoover whether he has, as a result of the investigation of his bureau, any evidence indicating that there has been a conspiracy with anybody, governmental, individu-

al, or otherwise. And I think we also ought to ask John McCone the same thing . . .

Mr. McCloy: Examine him as a brother, rather than as Attorney General.

Chairman: Yes, as brother. And if he was to testify that he had no information, I would think with any reasonable person it would have tremendous force . . .

Mr. Rankin: . . . I think that what you say about the Attorney General is very important, too, because I notice that the foreign press is sort of picking that up and saying . . . it is hardly believable that the brother of the President would stand by if there was some conspiracy in the United States to dispose of his brother. So I think that might be the most impressive thing we had, was the testimony of those three men . . .

The last item on the agenda of the April 30 meeting was Presidential protection. However, Rankin reminded the Commissioners that this was "the area that Congressman Ford said he wanted to participate in." Ford was not present at the meeting, and the Chairman agreed to postpone this discussion until the next session. On September 5, 1975, Gerald Ford, now President of the United States, was the target of an abortive assassination attempt in Sacramento, Calif.

Before adjourning, the Commissioners agreed on the necessity of including a biography of Lee Oswald in the final report. Rankin provided an intriguing explanation for this need, perhaps suggesting unconsciously what the Commission's verdict would be.

Mr. Rankin: Some of it will be necessary to tell the story and to show why it is reasonable to assume that he did what the Commission concludes that he did do.

Mr. Dulles: If we left out, for example, his stay in Russia and things of that kind from the main report, somebody might say we were burying that. I think that part ought to be in the main report, probably . . .

Meeting of the Commission on June 4, 1964

The Commission held a 40-minute meeting specifically devoted to Rep. Ford's angry denunciation of news reports that the Commissioners had already concluded that President Kennedy's assassination was the act of a lone individual and that there was no evidence that he was working as an agent of a foreign government. Such statements, Ford said, are "obviously false" because the Commission had not yet reached any conclusions. Ford's outburst was another example of the feeling in the Commission that outside forces were applying pressure to it to conclude that Lee Oswald had acted alone, and that, therefore, the case should be closed. Several months earlier — at the January 27 executive session of the Commission — several members had expressed their displeasure over the fact that the FBI had virtually decided for the Commission that, indeed, Oswald was a lone killer and that the presidential panel was simply expected to confirm it. However, John J. McCloy did indicate at the June 4 meeting that the press reports were not altogether wrong: "... in respect of the trend of the testimony that we have had, they probably are 80 or 85 percent accurate."

The June 4 meeting was attended only by Chief Justice Warren, Rep. Ford, McCloy, Allen Dulles, and General Counsel Rankin.

The Commission had held a meeting on May 19, but the Archives has kept the transcript secret because it related to "personal and medical files" and disclosure would "constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of personal privacy."

Most of the Commission's time during May was devoted to the taking of sworn testimony. This included the testimony by FBI Director Hoover and CIA director McCone, received on May 14, dealing largely with allegations that Oswald had been a government undercover agent. Nearly four months had elapsed between the time the Commission first heard these allegations — at the secret session on January 22 — and Hoover's and McCone's testimony under oath before the Commission.

In his testimony (the full text appears in Volume V of the Commission's hearings, published in September, 1964, along with the report), Hoover said that "I can most emphatically say that at no time was he [Oswald] an employee of the Bureau in any capacity, either as an agent or as a special employee, or as an informant." Furthermore, Hoover testified that "I have been unable to find any scintilla of evidence showing any foreign conspiracy or any domestic conspiracy that culminated in the assassination of President Kennedy."

Although Allen Dulles, the former CIA director, had told the Commission during the January 27 executive session that Hoover would never admit Oswald's employment, even if it were true, he did not challenge Hoover's testimony at the May 14 hearing. Waggoner Carr, the Texas attorney general, who first reported this claim, was present. Hoover acknowledged that although Oswald had been a defector to the Soviet Union, the FBI did not consider it necessary to give his name to the Secret Service prior to President Kennedy's visit to Dallas. Hoover testified that FBI agents had interviewed Oswald three times after his return from the Soviet Union in 1962 to try to establish whether he had been recruited by Soviet intelligence — and that agents had interviewed Marina Oswald on separate occasions — but he failed to inform the Commission that Oswald had visited the FBI office in Dallas several days before the assassination to issue a written warning against further interviews of his wife by bureau agents.

The Warren report said that the last pre-assassination contact between the FBI and Oswald had been in August, 1963, when he was interviewed at a New Orleans jail after his arrest following a street scuffle. Oswald was involved in a fight with anti-Castro exiles while distributing leaflets in favor of Premier Castro. Only on August 31, 1975 — almost 12 years later — did the FBI acknowledge that Oswald had written such a threatening note to the Bureau and that the note was destroyed by unknown persons. FBI Director Clarence M. Kelley said that despite his note, Oswald was not placed under active surveillance.

Not even this threat led the FBI to supply Oswald's name to the Secret Service prior to President Kennedy's visit to Dallas. Kelley said that FBI agents in Dallas had inexplicably kept secret their knowledge of the Oswald note for "almost 12 years."

Furthermore, there is nothing in Hoover's testimony concerning an alleged request by the FBI to the Dallas police to retract a public statement made on the assassination day by a police lieutenant that the bureau had known beforehand that Oswald could be a threat to the President. According to information released in September, 1975 by the former Dallas police chief, J.E. Curry, an FBI agent identified as James Hosty had told police lieutenant Jack Revill that the Bureau knew that Oswald was a threat to Kennedy.

Revill reportedly transmitted this information to Chief Curry, who in turn relayed it to newsmen on November 22. In May, 1964, Curry sent Warren a registered letter advising him that after he made his statement to reporters, "I received a telephone call from Mr. Gordon Shanklin, special agent in charge of the Dallas office of the FBI, in which Mr. Shanklin stated that the Bureau was extremely desirous that I retract my statement to the press. I then appeared before the press and retracted my statement . . ."

Curry added in his letter to Warren that prior to the alleged remarks by FBI agent Hosty, the bureau had given no indications to the Dallas police that Oswald was in the city and that he might be dangerous. Curry did not explain why he waited five months to advise the Warren Commission of this episode. He claimed in a newspaper interview on September 1975, that the Commission failed to pay sufficient attention to his information.

Revill, who headed the Dallas police intelligence section, testified before the Warren Commission on May 13, 1964, that Hosty, the FBI agent, had told him that "Lee Oswald killed President Kennedy . . . He is in our Communist file . . . We knew he was here in Dallas . . . We had information that this man was capable of committing this assassination." The Commission's report mentions this episode, but says that Hosty denied in sworn testimony that he had ever made such comments to Revill. However, the report ignores Chief Curry's statement in his letter to Warren that the FBI had asked him to retract the statement to the press. This, then, is another mystery concerning the Commission's work. The subject was not discussed in the Commission's executive sessions for which transcripts are available. However, the transcript of the May 19 session—six days after Revill's testimony—is among the two still withheld by the National Archives.

By the time the Commission met on June 4 to receive Ford's complaints about news leaks, it had already failed to meet its own secret June 1 target date for issuing the report. And as Ford pointed out, the omission had not yet reached any final conclusions.

Rep. Ford: Mr. Chief Justice, and members of the Commission, my comments at this point concern a number of news stories that have recently appeared in the press throughout the country. The article in *The Christian Science Monitor* of a day or so ago is rather typical.

It says, in effect, and I quote—"Commission members have come to the conclusion that President Kennedy's assassination was the act of a lone individual. There is no evidence that he was working in any way as an agent of a foreign government."

Now, I would like to make at least one point.

First. Any statement that Commission members have come to this or that conclusion is obviously false, because the Commission has not discussed these matters as a Commission, to my knowledge. The Commission as a whole, as far as I know, has made no final judgment. Now, the staff of the Commission, individually or collectively, may have come to certain conclusions such as this. However, the staff, individually or collectively, have no right to make such implications to the press, nor has any Federal agency, nor has any individual member of the Commission.

I regretfully say that if these news stories persist, I possibly have no other alternative than the obligation to express to the press . . . the views that I have stated here.

Chairman: Well, Congressman, may I say, so far as I am concerned, I share your feelings exactly. I personally cannot account for any of these stories . . . I have urged Mr. Rankin, and I am sure he has urged the staff, not to discuss them either. I am inclined to think that much of this comes from thin air and from speculation . . . I don't know how, however, we can let them bait us into making some statements that would deny it. That is my only problem. We don't get any place by denying that certain things are the facts.

Most of them (the newspapers) if not all, start out or contain in the substance of the article a Commission source, or a source close to the Commission . . .

Rep. Ford: By these kinds of articles, they are creating an atmosphere throughout the country that will, I think, create a predetermined public opinion of what we may or may not have come to . . . In my judgment, somebody somewhere is planting or leaking these stories. And I must go back to a letter that I think you received on behalf of the Commission early in December where, as I recall Mr. Katzenbach wrote and asked, among other things, one, if the Commission would release a statement to the effect that there was no foreign involvement, there was no conspiracy, or in the alternative that we as a Commission would authorize the Department of Justice to make such a release.

I think the Commission used good judgment in denying both requests . . . And ever since that time, and in a growing intensity, and in growing volume now, there is this kind of newspaper propaganda with the same intent in mind.

I have some personal conclusions, but I cannot prove them, so I don't want to make any allegations.

But it disturbs me . . . I want no newspaperman nor some individual or Federal agency implying that I have made a decision or that the Commission has made a decision when the facts are I have come to no specific conclusion yet, and as far as I know the Commission itself has come to no such conclusion.

Chairman: . . . I saw two or three days ago a short article . . . which said that the Commission was split on the question of whether Oswald was the sole perpetrator of this crime or not. . . . If they are going to increase in tempo and in number, at least until we make a decision, they are inaccurate . . . I think the Commission ought to at least think about at this point making a statement to the effect that no decision has been made . . . And perhaps that is enough. At least that would nullify the guts of what most of these stories include. It would undercut the speculation which is rampant at this point. I am just wondering if that would give furtherance to the statement, though, that we are split on it.

Rep. Ford: That is a matter of judgment.

Mr. McCloy: I am absolutely astounded at this spate of articles, and where they come from. They must come from some place very close to the Commission . . . And then in respect of the trend of the testimony that we have had, they probably are 80 or 85 percent accurate. I don't know how many times I have been stopped in New York and people saying, "I see, Jack, what your Commission is going to come out with. The report has already been written for you, hasn't it?" I think the thing has gotten to a point where I believe the Commission should say we have come to no conclusions on this thing yet, that the articles to the effect that conclusions of the Commission have already been found are totally inaccurate; that we do hope to have a report within a relatively short period of time in which our conclusions will be stated, but they are now merely in the process of formulation.

Rep. Ford: I only brought it up because these stories . . . are, in effect, preempting what we may or may not say.

Chairman: . . . I can see that as the time gets shorter and it looks as though we are getting to the point where we are going to file a report, that these things, they are starting to speculate about them more and more as time goes on until it comes out . . .

Rep. Ford: . . . The trouble now, Mr. Chief Justice, is as we get

down to the wire, they, by their own initiative or otherwise, are putting the imprimatur of the Commission, when they say a source close to the Commission, or a spokesman for, or something else . . . Three months ago it was pure speculation. But now they are adding an unofficial stamp to what they are writing

Chairman: . . . Suppose we made a statement to the effect that the taking of testimony is nearing an end, that the Commission is giving consideration now to the report that it hopes to write in the near future, that it has made no final conclusions as yet, in fact has not discussed final conclusions as a Commission.

Rep. Ford: That couldn't be better.

Chairman: If that is agreeable to everyone, we will put that out after this meeting.

Rep. Ford: I think it clears the air, and I think it is the kind of action that will, I hope, put to rest some of these speculative stories

Mr. McCloy: Until you complete the testimony you cannot have a final conclusion

Chairman: All right. We will see if this won't stop it. I hope so.

Meeting of Commission on June 23, 1964

The Commission held an executive session on June 23. However, the National Archives has refused to release the transcript because the CIA requested continuing secrecy. The meeting apparently dealt with CIA information concerning the period between 1959 and 1962 when Lee Oswald lived in the Soviet Union, and the Agency's efforts to obtain material on Oswald during his stay in Russia as well as his visit to Mexico City late in September and early in October, 1963. The New Republic requested Jane Smith, Director, Civil Archives Division of the National Archives, to set forth in writing the reasons for the denial of the June 23 transcript. Miss Smith's letter, dated September 5, 1975, said in part:

. . . The transcript of the executive session of June 23, 1964, is withheld from research under 5 USC (b) (1) as amended, "matters that are . . . specifically authorized under criteria established by an Executive Order to be kept secret in the interest of national defense or foreign policy and are in fact properly classified pursuant to such Executive Order." In response to a previous request for access, the transcript was reviewed by the Central Intelligence Agency because it relates to Yuri Nosenko, the Soviet defector. In response to our request for a review of the transcript the CIA asked that the request for access be denied "in order to protect sources and methods and other information related to our operational equities."

Meeting of Commission Members With Psychiatric Panel on July 9, 1964

Two members of the Warren Commission—McCloy and Dulles—and Commission staff members held a seven-hour meeting with three psychiatrists to develop a psychological profile of Oswald. The purpose of this meeting—Rankin described it as "an informal colloquy, interrogation and explanation by the doctors"—was to search for Oswald's possible motive in assassinating President Kennedy through a study of his personality.

The three doctors had studied most of the biographical material available on Oswald—based on numerous earlier interviews with

witnesses by the Commission, its staff, and the FBI but they cautioned the Commissioners that hard conclusions were impossible given the fact that Oswald could not be interviewed psychiatrically. The Commission appears to have used this material in a highly selective manner, incorporating some of the views of the doctors in the final report while rejecting others. For example, it ignored the medical hypothesis that Oswald probably did not have a killer instinct and, most importantly, that Oswald's rejection by Marina, his wife, on the eve of the assassination may have triggered, in an immediate sense, his decision to try to kill the President.

Comparing the transcript of the July 9 meeting with the final report, it appears that the Commission used the medical material both to construct Oswald's biography and, up to a point, to justify its conclusion that he had acted alone in the assassination. However, the report shied away from ascribing a clear motive to Oswald.

Although at least one of the doctors insisted that the Commission include a statement to the effect that it drew on the psychiatrists' panel in its investigation, the report failed to do so. The transcript of this meeting was part of the published hearings accompanying the report. It was classified for seven years following the publication of the report.

The transcript fills 245 pages. In addition to McCloy and Dulles, the session was attended by Rankin, his special assistant Norman Redlich, and staff members Wesley J. Liebeler, Albert E. Jenner, Jr., W. David Slawson, and Howard Willens. The doctors were Dr. Dale C. Cameron, then superintendent of St. Elizabeth's Hospital in Washington, D.C. (a hospital for mental patients); Dr. Howard P. Rome, then professor of psychiatry in the Mayo Foundation (connected with the Mayo Clinic in Rochester, Minnesota) and president-elect of the American Psychiatric Association; and Dr. David A. Rothstein, then staff psychiatrist at the US Medical Center for Federal Prisoners in Springfield, Missouri.

Opening the discussion, staff members drew for the doctors Oswald's early history, his father's death and the feelings of his mother, Marguerite Oswald, that society treated poor widows harshly.

Dr. Rothstein: This is interesting because one of the things in several of these patients [persons who have threatened Presidents of the US] was they all had ideas that Russia would be better or communism would be better and there seems to be an underlying feeling that the government would be more of a mother figure, providing more of the dependent needs of the people . . . I think perhaps this might indicate that some of her [his mother's] talk early in the beginning would have directed him [Oswald] toward the idea that the government should meet these needs, because at least in these people that I saw, I think one outstanding thing was that it wasn't just the anger toward a father figure but the anger toward a mother who wasn't really meeting a person's needs for dependency.

The group discusses at some length Oswald's attitudes in school and outside, the blend of withdrawal and aggressiveness in his personality.

Dr. Cameron: . . . It sounded as though he was withdrawn, and that as he tried to develop some masculine identity, then this kind of hostile belligerent business would come out. Then he got squelched again. Then he went into the Marines and there he was Oswald the Rabbit, until he began living with an oriental girl at which time he again became quite belligerent toward his peers in terms of coming in late, making a racket at night and doing everything he could to annoy his peers at that

juncture.

Then again he withdraws from this, and that is when he takes off for Russia.

Dr. Cameron: . . . It seems to me he has been a retiring kind of person in a sense, not alone because he wanted to be alone, but because he was so terribly rejected, and as he tries to come out he comes out in a hostile way, and then gets smacked down and comes out in a hostile way again, and then if this is true, and if indeed he did get rejected, in essence, by the Russians, and I don't know that, this would then become a trigger another hostile kind of outburst.

Mr. Liebler: . . . I don't want to put any thoughts in anybody's mind . . . but Oswald was discharged from a job on April 6, 1963 and on April 10, 1963 he apparently made his attempt on the life of General Walker. . . .

Mr. Jenner: . . . We have to remain skeptics, as lawyers act as devil's advocates to ourselves. . . . One of the things that we are hoping we will obtain, we are already obtaining, is advice from you gentlemen as to what we should look for

Dr. Cameron: . . . I think he had a sort of pseudo-intellectual drive and some other personality problems that would have prompted him in this direction . . . His mother had a great drive to be recognized by important persons. She wanted to be an important person herself, that she was grasping, self-centered, selfish, and used her children for her own benefit. . . .

I think part of his interest, and to be in a commanding or controlling situation, I think part of his interest in communism may have grown out of the desire to be knowledgeable about something about which a lot of other people weren't knowledgeable, and also because the so-called capitalistic system in his view and in his mother's treated her rather badly, so I think he would have a natural interest in other kinds of systems

In Oswald's case, a man who would defect and go in these circumstances, shows that he is perfectly capable of acting on his beliefs, and that in retrospect would have been a big fat danger signal for this kind of boy

Mr. Liebler: So you would certainly watch defectors?

Dr. Cameron: Yes, I certainly would.

Mr. McCloy: He was an activist throughout. In the first place, he signed up for the Marine Corps. He went over to the Marine Corps. He went off to Moscow. He went off to Mexico. He got excited about the Cuban business. He printed the pamphlets and distributed them on the corner of the street. He shot at Walker. He shot at the President

Dr. Cameron: If he had shot Walker, the President probably would have been saved.

Dr. Cameron noted that Oswald did not mention associates in the Walker attempt. The fact that Oswald had made a written record of the Walker incident led to a discussion as to whether Oswald did not want to be caught in the Kennedy assassination. The point was raised why Oswald smuggled his rifle from the Paines' home in Irving to the Texas School Book Depository building in Dallas instead of procuring another weapon. A neighbor, who drove him from Irving to Dallas on November 22, saw Oswald carry the rifle wrapped in fabric.

Dr. Rothstein: I am wondering whether he really wanted to

have this hidden and not be caught, because one outstanding thing about almost every one of these people who threatens the President was for one thing they have made some suicidal attempt in the past, and in at least a lot of them there was an identification of this with suicide . . . Oswald may have really, at least unconsciously, had a need or this was an event equal to suicide in a sense

Mr. McCloy: . . . I already talked about what seems to be his killing instinct. He also talked about killing a good bit in his papers . . . when he talked about Russia being his own country, he considered it his own country and it was a war. He immediately said he would have to kill Americans, kill any American

Dr. Cameron: I would have a little trouble with the concept of a killer instinct. I think this was a violent hostile paranoid person, which is understandable in terms of his past history, and that in his hostility and violence he would kill, yes. But I wouldn't attribute this to any innate instinct in that sense of the word. I think it was more the product of his life experiences, plus his innate personality, whatever talents he was born with

Mr. Dulles: His disappointment in Russia too was due in part to the character of the state he found there. He didn't welcome that. He apparently rejected that.

Dr. Cameron: . . . This fits in with your mother concept in a sense, the state with its collectivism which would supply the creature needs, and so forth, and yet he found that there was too much authority going along with this to satisfy him. . . . Is it fair for me to assume that there is no reason to believe that he was a tool of the Russians in his return in what he did?

Mr. Liebler: . . . We assume that he was not involved in a conspiracy, that he was not a Russian agent of any sort

Mr. Dulles: You can assume exactly what was said, he was not a tool. I think the evidence before the Commission pretty clearly brings that out. I think they looked him over, but rejected him . . . This is not the kind of man any intelligence service would want to pick up.

This was the first time that a Commission member stated flatly that available evidence indicated that Oswald was not a Soviet agent. The Commission had apparently accepted earlier the assurances by FBI director Hoover and CIA Director McCone that Oswald had not been an undercover agent in their employ. In this fashion, the Commission was gradually ruling out conspiracy theories.

Dr. Rome: . . . He comes back from Russia, and now it is a plague on both their houses. Neither of them have been able to really provide this kind of a satisfaction. Then there is this business of trying to get to Cuba.

Again, this frenetic kind of a search all around the periphery in an attempt to locate and establish himself

Dr. Rothstein: It may be stretching things, but I think if rejection by a woman and mother is important, the possibility of this having some effect may be present. One of these President threateners had written his threatening letters in relation to a woman who had left him who had rejected him some time later, but there was a direct connection between this, and it could be one factor.

Dr. Cameron: And whether [Marina] left [Oswald] of her own

volition or whether through the intervention of the Russian community [in Dallas], Lee Harvey Oswald was once again emasculated . . .

Dr. Rothstein: . . . I have some feeling maybe the birth of the second [child] had something to do with the assassination, but I just want to remark at this point that maybe some of this idea of wanting to go back to Russia also was related to that, because, after all, he came back to the United States after the birth of the first child . . . [Second child was born on October 20]

The group next analyzed the Oswalds' relationship when they moved together to New Orleans in May, 1963, when Marina was three months pregnant.

Mr. Liebeler: [It] was my understanding, that their relationship during this period in New Orleans was not bad.

Mr. Redlich: Marina has said that there were no physical attacks on her . . . To get the full picture, I think Marina did say that Oswald seemed to deteriorate more in New Orleans. There was more fantasy, you know, about his hijacking a plane and getting to Cuba and talking about being the prime minister in 20 years . . .

Oswald returned to Dallas from Mexico on October 3, then went to Irving to see Marina on October 4. Next, he took a room in Dallas under an assumed name. The panel, after tracing Oswald's movements in September and October, went back to Lee's and Marina's relationship. The doctors felt increasingly that Marina was the key to Oswald's behavior at that juncture, a point the Commission did not bring out adequately in the Report.

Mr. Liebeler: . . . Now after they got back Lee wouldn't let Marina smoke, wouldn't let her drink, wouldn't let her wear lipstick. He did not encourage her or help her to learn English, and in some people's views he positively opposed her learning the English language . . .

Dr. Rome: I would think that it was mostly again another aspect of her dependency relationship, to have her dependent upon him then as a mask for his dependence upon her, and still exercise his control of the situation.

Mr. Jenner: She was completely dependent on him, there is no question about it . . .

Dr. Rome: I think his need to appear in every sense the man in the house, to wear the pants in a literal and figurative sense more and more, and I think we are working up to and what we are really going to find out is what kind of a man he was. . . .

Mr. Liebeler: Now, it is also interesting that Marina testified that Oswald did help her quite a bit in things around the house. Now, of course in that connection it is also I suppose it should be pointed out, that some of the witnesses testified that Marina was just an awful mother, that she didn't have any idea of modern techniques or American techniques on how to feed the child.

She gave the child sugar water to keep it quiet, and things like that, and picked up the pacifier off the floor and put it in her own mouth, which was at that time full of rotten teeth, and then to wipe it off on the floor and then stick it in the baby's mouth, and this upset some of the other people . . .

Now on a rather more personal subject, de Mohrenschildt reported that in the presence of Oswald Marina said, "He sleeps with me just once a month, and I never get any

satisfaction out of it. A rather crude and completely straightforward thing to say in front of relative strangers as we were. I didn't blame Lee for giving her a good whack in the eye. Once it was all right, but he also exaggerated." . . .

Dr. Rothstein: He might have been egged on by her to prove he was really masculine . . .

Mr. Liebeler: On the weekend prior to the assassination, Lee called Marina and spoke to her about coming out to Paines over the week end, and because Mrs. Paine was going to have a birthday party for one of her children, Marina told Lee that he should not come to Irving that weekend because "It might not be convenient for Ruth." Oswald replied, according to Marina's testimony, "As you wish. If you don't want me to come I won't." . . .

The panel went over material showing that Oswald came to see Marina the evening before the assassination and asked her to come live with him in Dallas. Nothing was settled and Oswald went to bed at the Paines' house two hours before Marina did. The next morning, November 22, he got up before Marina did, left his wedding ring on a dresser along with \$170, took the rifle from the garage, and had a friend drive him to Dallas.

Dr. Rome: Let me try this on you for size. Here is a man who in a variety of ways has been made a cuckold, and had his nose rubbed in his impotence, literally and figuratively.

He comes back. She is angry. He is rebuffed. All through this he does all of the kinds of somewhat ignominious things for him that he has not done previously in the way of playing with the children, offering to get the washing machine, now trying to fill the role of a dutiful husband and father.

I think it is extremely significant that with this situation now, and being confronted in a very probable way by his impotence, that he leaves his wedding ring. He gives as much money as he is able to give to her, and then he takes up the only evidence of masculinity that he has ever been able to demonstrate, his rifle, with him, and now he is going to demonstrate that he really is a man under these circumstances.

I think that we have today been able to build up to this point very definitely the kind of psychological background that would make then the subsequent behavior extremely consistent in a psychological sense.

Dr. Rothstein: I am not saying that he wasn't going to kill the President until after this argument, but I think this was a big factor in it. . . .

At this point the doctors made virtually explicit the theory that Marina's rejection may have been the causal factor in Lee's decision to assassinate President Kennedy. They had been building their case in that direction all along.

Dr. Cameron: I would look at this last episode as simply a final fillip, if you will, in a sense this whole life with his mother, and I come back to her repeatedly, and the things we have talked about all day, and the fact that for him . . . to release his hostility in some way that would be noteworthy, and the assassination of a prominent person would satisfy this need. Now he I think must have thought about it if he did kill the President . . . So I think what Marina had a chance to do unconsciously that night was to veto his plan without ever knowing of its existence, but she didn't. She really stamped it down hard. But that one incident would never, never have been enough.

Dr. Rothstein: He might very well have done something like that or the same thing at another time in the future.

Dr. Cameron: At another time. Of course he also had one chance in a lifetime actually of making this kind of contact with the President. Otherwise if he was really after the President, he would have to go to another city. His chances of coming back — that is why I think the prominent person was all he really was after, and perhaps this was "My God, how about that? I can get the President."

Dr. Cameron: I think his primary purpose was to find a prominent public person, and to be able to couple that with the President, the head of the capitalistic system, is wonderful from his point of view.

But I think what he really was after was a prominent person in the public eye whose death would result in a real rhabarb . . .

Dr. Rome: . . . I think you have to see these as contrapuntal themes, and all along he has been involved, it is as though he is above these mundane, domestic kind of things, and in a sense he loses a battle but wins a war by this kind of an explosive act which, at the same time, recoups him not only in his own eyes but really makes him quite a man . . .

Mr. Dulles: Then that finishes him, of course. He is perfectly willing to be finished with it.

Dr. Rome: With this identification again. At least you have by virtue of your violence identified yourself with an extremely prominent person. This makes you prominent.

Dr. Cameron: Even if he gets caught and gets the chair, he is identified with being ahead of his time, in his warped way of thinking . . .

I think if Marina had accepted him, if she had been a loving wife that night, he might have slept late the next morning and he might not have got the President, but eventually it would have had to have been some way. It would have been a temporary reprieve

Dr. Rothstein: I think his discomfort might have been relieved to the point he wouldn't have taken action on it.

Dr. Cameron: He would have done it later to somebody else.

Dr. Rothstein: She [Marina] is what the psychiatrists would often call a castrating woman . . . Who is building up her own importance, her own feeling of importance by depreciating him

Dr. Cameron: I can say that he has decided that is it with her. That doesn't necessarily mean that this is the day he is going to kill the President. Now if he was going to kill the President, of course this is so with her because he is either dead himself or on the run, and he can't be bothered with her. But he has left her. That is what that says to me. It doesn't say positively that he is going to do something. . . .

You are troubled . . . by the notion that we seem to be saying she was a pretty unsavory character, and that you know a lot of women who may have comparable behavior without attributing to them such unsavory motives . . . But at any rate she was capable of fitting into his pathology, and I think it is his pathology that we are concerned with here, and she happened to fit in with it. . . .

Dr. Rothstein: I still would want to say I think to some extent the President at some level of his thinking was his wife and his mother.

Dr. Cameron: I think by choosing a prominent person, particularly one associated with government, he was perhaps unconsciously assassinating both his mother and the system.

Mr. Liebler: And his wife also?

Dr. Cameron: Possibly.

Mr. Liebler: And perhaps also the Soviet system?

Dr. Cameron: I don't know whether he is capable of this kind of thinking or not, but, if there could have been any linkage between this act and the Soviet system, it would have really been kind of tough on both systems. . . .

Some members of the Commission's staff indicated their opinion that the psychiatric analysis of Oswald's possible motives was inadequate and unconvincing. This may be one reason why, in the end, the Commission refused to speculate on the motive.

Mr. Redlich: . . . My objection to your analysis is that I think you are fitting this into a pretty tight mold based on one side of the story. . . .

I am prepared to argue that you have in my opinion, not having observed Marina Oswald personally, visually, not having visually observed Lee Harvey Oswald, not having observed Oswald's mother visually, I just cannot understand how professionally you gentlemen are able to say that somehow there is a similarity between Marina Oswald and Margaret Oswald, that Marina is this kind of a person that you say she is. . . .

Dr. Rome: Obviously these conjectures are highly speculative. There is no question that they are based on inference, incomplete information, conjecture.

Mr. Dulles: We have asked you gentlemen to make them. . . .

Mr. Redlich: . . . I think Mr. Dulles is quite right that we have asked for this, and that my comments are really directed on the use that we make of your speculations and conclusions based on the information that we have provided to you. . . . What in your opinion should we do with the type of analysis that you have provided us today? . . .

Dr. Rome: As far as I am concerned, this is highly conjectural. It is purely speculative. I see it as being of no use to anyone beyond a staff level to help perhaps clarify your approach to the record.

I should think it would be most unrealistic to use this in any way. I think you would be laughed right out by the public with this high spun fantasy kind of inferences based on second- and third-hand hearsay information.

I have thought that this was solely for the purpose of again establishing some testable hypothesis in which you could or could not fit the evidence that you have. That there will be great gaps and deficiencies, yes. I think this is so.

But to try to account for Lee Oswald's behavior by now retrospectively, after his death, trying to devise some sort of psychological history I think would be a specious exercise. . . .

Dr. Cameron: Now, if the Commission decides that he [Oswald] did in fact do it and then you are interested in the question of motive, and you are unable to find any motive of a

political or other nature, then you are in effect asking us, can we find anything here that seems to fit some kind of a psychological motive. As far as I am concerned, the answer is "Yes."

Now, whether or not you make this public or should make it public I think is highly questionable. One, Mrs. Margaret Oswald is still in existence, and so is Marina, and there would be little purpose served I think in trying to damn her or Marina for this testimony, if my hypothesis of how a lot of this, particularly the mother, came about, I see little point in this.

I think you would probably say yes, he did it, and there was no, if this is true, international involvement, and he seems to have done it as a loner for reasons peculiar to himself, and just drop it there. . . .

Dr. Rothstein: The only thing I would add, I think it would not be entirely unreasonable to say that you have consulted with psychiatrists as to whether this was possible. I don't know whether you would agree with that, but it seems to me that would be reasonable.

Dr. Cameron: I don't think it is necessary. I think the Commission will have to decide that question. . . .

Mr. Liebeler: Now, are we going to be in a position where, assuming we can't find any credible political motive, what would the American public think if we just said well, he did it for reasons peculiar to himself, and we dropped it at that? Now we do have hypotheses. . . . And then the American public wouldn't have the benefit of the thought that these men have given, and still can give, with additional information that we can provide them, the thought that we have given to the question which has certainly made it believable to me that Oswald could have done this for purely psychological motivations, even though it may not be 100 percent precise, it seems to me that we are in a position and we do have information enough to suggest enough or lay forth enough hypotheses and fact to make it believable that this is why he did it.

If we don't do this, the American public isn't going to have this background to make this judgment, and they are just going to say, "Well, what the heck."

Dr. Rome: They have already made whatever judgment they are going to make, believe me.

Mr. Liebeler: If that is true, we might as well fold up our papers and go home.

Mr. Redlich: . . . We should stop short of presenting a psychological thesis, because I think that it would tend to give the impression that we are really trying to, in effect, prove the absence of conspiratorial motive, by presenting a psychological thesis, and that psychological thesis might be punched so full of holes by people of a different psychiatric school of thought from you three gentlemen that it would endanger the other side of the coin, namely the absence of the rational conspiratorial motive. . . .

Dr. Cameron: . . . I think it is perfectly fair to say if this is your conclusion that he did it, that "We found no evidence to implicate any other persons," if that is true "or any other country" if that is true "and this is what was said at the testimony, and based on this we find it believable that Lee Harvey Oswald could have done it and we think he did."

Mr. Liebeler: And you would leave out entirely any suggestive relationships between these various events? Because you see you really are applying a standard of selection . . . when you put in the report itself certain of the testimony. . . .

Mr. Dulles: Selecting on our idea on the basis of accuracy, not any other consideration. . . .

Mr. Redlich: But stopping short of using some of the language which I was very glad that you gentlemen used today. . . .

Dr. Rome: Don't you suspect the total mass of data that is going to be made public is going to be self-evident?

Mr. Dulles: But nobody reads. Don't believe people read in this country. There will be a few professors that will read the record. . . .

Mr. Jenner: And a few newspaper reporters who will read parts of it.

Mr. Dulles: The public will read very little. . . .

Dr. Rothstein: I think the other two doctors feel that it shouldn't even be mentioned that there was any psychiatric consideration. Maybe I am overenthused with psychiatry getting into things, but I feel that it is a relevant thing to say.

Mr. Dulles: I think we ought to state we consulted psychiatrists, somewhere. . . . If we hadn't done that we would have missed an important area of the study. . . .

The Report, however, made no reference to the Commission's consulting the panel of psychiatrists. On the other hand, many passage in the report reflected some aspects of the psychiatric analysis. Other aspects were rejected; the report said the Commission did not believe that Oswald's relations with his wife caused him to assassinate Kennedy. Listing Oswald's difficulty in establishing human relationships, his discontent with the world, his hatred of American society, his search for a place in history, his commitment to Marxism and Communism, and his capacity to act without regard to the consequences, the Warren Commission offered this conclusion: "Out of these and many other factors which may have molded the character of Lee Harvey Oswald there emerged a man capable of assassinating President Kennedy."

Commission Meeting Of September 18, 1964

This was the Commission's final session in preparation for the completion of its report. It was the first executive session since June 23. In the interval Commissioners and staff had been taking additional testimony, and staff members were drafting the final version of the report.

The Commission was unable to meet its original target date of June 1; the report would be issued on September 27, 1964—nearly ten months after the Warren Commission was constituted.

No actual transcript of the September 18 session is known to exist. According to the National Archives, only the minutes of the meeting are available. However, the minutes do throw additional light on the Commission's last-minute concerns. For example, the general counsel was instructed "to use care that the proposed conclusions" concerning Chapter III ("The Shots From The Texas School Book Depository") and Chapter IV ("The Assassin") not contain any conflict with the conclusions set forth in Chapter I ("Summary and Conclusions").

A Motion was made . . . that the General Counsel be authorized to proceed to make arrangements, subject to the

approval of the Chairman, to return to interested parties who have furnished documentary and other evidence to the Commission all of such materials when their retention is no longer necessary to adequately protect the Report of the Commission or when duplicate or other conformed copies will be fully adequate. That in taking such action the General Counsel consult with the Federal Bureau of Investigation and other interested persons and agencies whenever necessary and proper.

The importance of the transcripts lies in what they reveal of the frame of mind of the seven Commissioners as they labored to find the truth, evaluate the evidence, establish their conclusions and write a final report. Their innermost thoughts and doubts are bared. So many of the doubts apparently were not resolved that the impression emerges from these private discussions among the Commissioners that, in the end, the report was the only possible compromise they could produce—in terms of their knowledge and their conscience. Likewise the transcripts call into question the competence of the

Warren Commission.

The characters of these men come alive as in a dramatic play. Senator Russell and John McCloy are the doubters, the outspoken and impatient sceptics and questioners. They come across as strong men in the drama. Chief Justice Warren is surprisingly passive, often hesitant, always conscious of the historic burden. His concern is credibility. Allen Dulles is the businesslike figure, proud of his insights into the affairs of nations and the craft of intelligence. Senator Cooper and Representative Boggs choose to remain in the background most of the time. And Gerald Ford, except for his sudden sense of outrage over efforts to ascribe to the Commission conclusions it had not yet reached, appears willing to go along with his peers.

They played their roles in history. Now history will judge them.

The New Republic wishes to acknowledge with gratitude the special assistance in preparing these transcripts of Robert Lee Lewis and Marion E. Johnson.

How the Survivors Feel Now

Aftermath

by Eliot Marshall

The Warren Commission staff was under enormous pressure in 1964, first, (in Earl Warren's phrase) to "quench" rumors, second, to meet a deadline before autumn and, third, to find the truth. How successful was it in meeting its objectives? As doubts about the Commission's work continue to pile up, it seems clear that the panel did far better at meeting its deadline than at quelling rumors. Where did it fail?

According to Waggoner Carr, attorney general of Texas at the time of the investigation, the Commission's greatest handicap was that it relied on federal agencies for its information. Carr concedes that Chief Justice Warren had little choice but to use the agents of the FBI and CIA as his investigators, but he believes Warren could have done a better job if he and his staff had not put so much weight on the assurances of FBI Director J. Edgar Hoover, CIA Director John McCone and McCone's deputy, Richard Helms. After all, these men could not have been expected to reveal information that would damage their agencies or their own careers. The CIA and FBI both were involved in watching the assassin's actions before November 22, 1963, and in putting together the evidence that

convicted him posthumously. They were not objective participants in the inquiry.

On the weekend of the assassination Waggoner Carr announced that he was preparing to hold an independent, public court of inquiry in Texas into the circumstances surrounding the deaths of President Kennedy and Lee Harvey Oswald. He did so at the urging of the wounded Texas Gov. John Connally and the new President, Lyndon Johnson. Carr was in the process of gathering staff and laying out procedures for the inquiry when officials in Washington virtually ordered him to call it off. They wanted him to defer to the newly appointed presidential Commission in Washington headed by Earl Warren. Carr recently described those negotiations of December, 1963: "We had a difficult time in the beginning with Mr. Warren, who insisted that we drop all thoughts of holding a court of inquiry and turn it completely over to him and his organization." Carr balked, for the "simple reason that I had read a quote of Mr. Warren where he laid the blame on Texas. I felt that to turn the investigation over to a man who might have already made up his mind that Texas was guilty would have been an unforgivable thing on

my part, so I refused." Carr and his assistants, who had come to Washington, would not surrender until the Chief Justice made some concessions himself. Warren just as adamantly insisted that the Texans would have to give up their plans for an investigation before he would even see them. Carr said: "For three days we cooled our heels waiting for him to see us, and he kept refusing. Mr. Katzenbach, who was deputy attorney general at the time, was the intermediary between us and the White House. Finally on the third night we sat up there and he completely refused to see us, and we refused in turn . . . I just lost my patience and announced to Mr. Katzenbach that I was through waiting. I might be a little country bumpkin to him but after all I was the attorney general of the state of Texas and owed some obligation to my people." He was heading back to Texas, he told Katzenbach, and in the morning he would announce that he was opening the court of inquiry. "Well, before we got out of town Mr. Warren sent word that he would see us. So we went up to his office and had a nice meeting with him, out of which this written agreement was worked out."

According to the written agreement, the Texas authorities promised to forward all the information they could gather on the Kennedy and Oswald murders to the Warren Commission and to hold off their own investigation. They insisted, however, that they be allowed to sit in on questioning of witnesses, and they reserved the right to have their own independent inquiry if they felt the Warren Commission had left out important material or hidden facts that should have been made public. They were also determined to see that the Warren Commission not reach conclusions that were unfair to the state of Texas. The arrangement worked well for the Commission, not quite so well for Texas. The Texans sent all they had to the Commission's Chief Counsel, J. Lee Rankin, and Rankin allowed the Texans to review the testimony of his witnesses. But there was a catch; the Texans had to come to Washington and view the record within the security of the Commission's meeting room. For obvious reasons, the Texas officials could not keep abreast of all that was going on in the investigation.

Today Carr says he agrees with the findings of the Warren Commission, and because he felt the same way in 1964, he never undertook a large, independent inquiry of his own. Although he concurs with the "general thrust" of the Commission's work, there are "two things that I felt frustrated over . . . I was never completely satisfied." One, he said, was the investigation into whether there was any possible connection between Oswald and the CIA or the FBI. "And the second was the disturbing fact that at the time Oswald was captured he had gone from downtown Dallas to Oak Cliff, and was headed in the general direction of Ruby's apartment." Carr has never seen any evidence of a prior acquaintance between Ruby and Oswald, but "I'm still keeping that somewhat open in my own

mind."

Carr's first question—whether Oswald might have been a secret agent—is one that troubled the Commission itself for many months. On January 22, 1964 Carr told J. Lee Rankin that rumors were persistent "everywhere in Texas" that Oswald had been an undercover agent, and that the Commission ought to make this a "major factor" of its investigation. He later followed this up with a letter to Rankin in which he suggested that the Commission check out Oswald's background on its own by interviewing all the FBI and CIA agents in the Dallas area who might have had contact with Oswald. He thinks the Commission didn't take his advice seriously enough: "I still think they should have done it." Instead, the Commission dealt primarily with the heads of the agencies—Hoover and McCone—and later took testimony from several agents who had filed reports on Oswald. But the interviews with the agents came later, after Hoover and McCone had stated flatly that Oswald had never been on their payrolls. No one who hoped to get ahead in the intelligence field would lightly contradict Hoover, McCone and Helms.

The federal government's treatment of Dallas officials in those difficult months left behind a residue of bitterness. Waggoner Carr felt that he'd been treated as a "country bumpkin," and William Alexander, then assistant district attorney in Dallas, felt that the FBI and members of the Warren Commission regarded him and his staff as "rinkydinks." Although the Dallas police and district attorney's office fulfilled their half of the bargain, Alexander said, the Feds did not fully live up to theirs. They did not forward useful evidence gathered by the FBI and other federal agencies to the district attorney in Dallas. According to Alexander, "all those bastards are vaccinated with the same needle. It's a one-way street." The experience was frustrating, like "every other deal" involving Washington. "You give one of those bastards a telephone number, and then lose it, and call him and ask for it, and he'll tell you to call Washington and get permission from the supervisor." Alexander thought it wise to temper his complaints, however: "You understand, I wouldn't be critical of the organization at all. I'm sure they have their reasons. After all, I don't want to take on the FBI and CIA at the same time."

Alexander most emphatically does not believe there was a conspiracy. "There was nothing you could put on a witness stand with a straight face that would connect Ruby with Oswald," he said. But there remain some unanswered questions in his mind. He was impressed with the Commission's work: "I was amazed that they did as good a job as they did." But "I really would like to know whether Oswald was or was not taking handouts from some federal agency. Another thing I would like to know is whether he was debriefed after he got back home from Russia. Wouldn't you?"

Oswald. If the Commission had known of the Oswald note, "there would have been even more support for that criticism."

The news that the CIA may have hired assassins in Cuba, and that it withheld this information from the Commission, did not warrant a new inquiry, either. "If anyone has facts suggesting that Oswald met with Castro supporters, or that Oswald was aware of the CIA's plans, that might be worth investigating." Willens said he might someday change his position, "But neither of these more recent developments carries with it any fact or promise of developing facts that go to the central conclusions of the Warren report."

Another familiar name on the roster of Warren Commission lawyers is Albert Jenner. He was minority counsel to the House Judiciary Committee that in 1974 held impeachment hearings on President Nixon's involvement in the Watergate scandal. In 1964 Jenner was the Warren Commission's liaison with the FBI and other intelligence services, which gave him primary responsibility for assigning investigative tasks to the correct agency. It is unfair to call the FBI the Commission's investigative arm, Jenner said recently, because the Commission also used the CIA, the military intelligence services, state police, US attorneys and members of the Commission staff to "check and cross-check" every piece of information received. "As liaison," Jenner said, "I used the FBI very carefully. You know we were very critical of them. I used them only in investigating situations that had arisen subsequent to Dallas."

Jenner's overriding concern today is that "responsible journalists" not follow the claque of "bookwriters and theorists" who seek to poke holes in the Commission's work. "I understand the people," Jenner said. "The poor public, they're getting confused. They'd like some reassurance. They'd like to be quieted." But he doesn't believe that a new investigation would come up with the answers they seek. "You have to be very careful of politicians who are up for reelection. They get letters from all kinds of people who are confused, and want to be comforted. They want a new investigation so that they can feel better about their President, about their country." The politicians, Jenner said, respond to the pressure, but "don't investigate much." His experience with congressional committees leads him to believe that "the odds are 95 percent, no accomplishment and 99 percent, a thorough confusion."

The new information that has come to light about the FBI and CIA in Jenner's view is immaterial to the Warren Commission's work. Jenner said it seemed unimportant to him whether Oswald had or had not delivered a threatening note to the FBI because it would not change the chief conclusion of the Commission, that Lee Harvey Oswald killed the President without assistance from anyone. As for possible involvement of the CIA, Jenner said, "It is a horrible thing to think that

an agency of the United States was engaged in assassinating a President. Is it possible? Sure, anything is possible. Is it probable? Absolutely no." He opposes any reopening of the investigation unless it can be shown that the questions to be examined "if resolved, would lead down to a material modification of the Warren Commission report." Otherwise, he would not "disturb the people" with another inquiry.

As this sample illustrates, the staff of the Warren Commission believes that it did a thorough job of investigating the leads it discovered in 1964. None of the men interviewed in September felt there was a basis for reopening the case at this time, or even for reviewing parts of the investigation. But doubts persist. As Lee Rankin said, "All our thoughts about the FBI and CIA are different since Watergate." Rankin himself still wonders how Oswald could have been killed in a police station. Everyone involved in the investigation seems to have a few unanswered questions like his.

Public questioning of the Commission's work revived this year with the discovery that the FBI and CIA withheld embarrassing information from the investigators 11 years ago. The *Saturday Evening Post* in its September cover story inquires once again into the "unsolved mystery" of the Kennedy assassination. *New Times* recently published a two-part article discussing the theory that Lee Harvey Oswald was merely a patsy for a crime arranged by some influential conspirators. *Skeptic* magazine devoted its most recent number to the question, "Who killed John Kennedy?" *Time* last week quoted "FBI sources close to the investigation" who believe that John Mohr, former administrative chief of the bureau, ordered the threatening note from Oswald destroyed.

Is there cause for a new investigation? Sen. Richard Schweiker (R, Pa.), a member of the Select Committee investigating US intelligence activities, thinks there is. On September 8 he held a news conference to announce that he would like the Senate to extend the charter of the committee on which he sits to include the Kennedy assassination. Specifically, he would like to examine the CIA and FBI files on Jack Ruby and Lee Harvey Oswald to find out whether these men were actually tied to the intelligence agencies in ways the Warren Commission failed to discover. In addition, he wants to reexamine the performance of those secret agencies during the Warren investigation to determine whether they cooperated fully. To do this, Schweiker must get permission from Congress. At the moment, he cannot convince his own committee. Chairman Frank Church (D, Idaho) and Vice Chairman John Tower (R, Tex.) said they didn't believe there was enough evidence to warrant such an inquiry, and, passing the buck, they suggested that some "separate committee" should be assigned the task. That was a polite, if temporary, way to relieve the pressure.

Arts and Lives

Stanley Kauffmann on films

Malice Domestic

Three Days of the Condor (Paramount). Is Robert Redford finished? Has he been laminated into a salable stock item to be displayed for a couple of hours twice a year? It seems to have happened with Stacy Keach and it seems to be happening with Redford: a talent of considerable promise is being stiffened in familiar molds, easy to ship and sell. The finger of blame must fix on Redford himself: because a star of his box-office clout can pick and choose. Lately he has chosen to do very little, in any serious sense. Since *Jeremiah Johnson*, in which he gave a good performance as a mountain man exploring inner and outer space, he has made only two efforts at what might be called acting, *The Way We Were* and *The Great Gatsby*. The first was a horrible film, and in the second he was badly miscast. *The Sting* and *The Great Waldo Pepper* were only merchandising: they required nothing more than behaving credibly in between socks on the jaw or climbing in and out of airplanes. And now *Three Days of the Condor*, a political thriller about the CIA, set mostly in New York. Redford is selling high-gloss personality again, doing little more than making this love scene or that phone call credible in between fights for his life.

I first saw Redford on the stage—*Barefoot in the Park*, 1963—where, under Mike Nichols's direction he gave a nicely turned comic performance. The role could not have been more conventional, but Redford found ways to give it validity as a character and as an element in a comedy, and he played it like an Olympic ice skater feeling good. He later repeated it, almost as well, in the film version. Then, in *Downhill Racer* and *Tell Them Willie Boy Is Here* and *The Candidate* and *Jeremiah Johnson*, he

showed some promise of becoming another Fredric March: a handsome man, full of sex, with wit and wide human sympathy, with intelligence, with skill and with belief in that skill as the means to truth.

Not lately. It looks as if Redford is just going to "behave" himself to billionaire-dom, "behaving" his way through a series of parts that call only for Series A or B or C reactions and sincerities. I'm certainly not saying that he's bad in *Condor*: but he doesn't do much more than present various arrangements of his facial and bodily muscles in motion and repose. It's a role that wouldn't have been much of a strain for the young Buster Crabbe.

Condor is based on a novel by James Grady which I riffled through last year, thinking I might as well wait for the film. The script is by Lorenzo Semple, Jr. and David Rayfiel (once a playwright of promise). It deals with a camouflaged CIA station in New York, all of whose members except Redford are wiped out by assassins. The "three days" of the title are those in which the agency tries to get him back under their protection—he has fled and is being hunted by the people who killed his friends—and the story is about the intrigues within the CIA itself that caused the original wipe-out.

The idea of internecine trouble in a secret agency is old hat in suspense stories. (See John Le Carré.) And the idea that the CIA might be involved in killing could come as a surprise only to those who haven't been following events in Vietnam since 1963. In addition *Condor* relies heavily on familiar tropes. The hero, as in countless thrillers, is a relatively sedentary type who is plunged into extraordinary circumstances and suddenly knows all about pistols and clever dodges in hand-to-hand combat. He's given a girl at the beginning who is patently set up to be killed: we know it here because she is Chinese and because she is not Faye Dunaway, who is Redford's co-star. And Dunaway, for some reason, has agreed to play the Girl Whom the Hero Sleeps With En Route. They've tried to beef up her part with character touches: she's a classy photographer who lives in Brooklyn Heights. They've even given Dunaway her own makeup man and hairdresser. To no avail. In this picture she is only Redford's stooge, with nothing of her own to do in the plot.

The only near-performance in the picture comes from Max von Sydow as a professional killer. (He even managed to

give some reality to the old priest in *The Exorcist*.) A gray technician's life in gray hotel rooms without even the rewards of amorality—all this von Sydow puts behind his performance and therefore in it. Admittedly, however, it's the only interestingly written part in the script. John Houseman, as a CIA bigwig, gives what has so quickly become his standard plump pussy-cat performance.

I've read comparisons between *Condor* and *The Wilby Conspiracy* (reviewed last week) that give *Condor* the decided edge. I can't see why. *Condor* is much more topical for Americans, but in itself it's no more credible than *Conspiracy*, is equally maneuvered to keep the hero alive, and is only marginally more exciting. Sydney Pollack has directed *Condor* with more of the Handi-kit repertoire of cinematic virtuosity than Ralph Nelson can use, but on the nontedium scale, which is all that matters in pictures of this kind despite their pretensions to moral resonance, I was at least as well entertained by three good actors, Poitier and Caine and Williamson, as I was by the good actor von Sydow and the nonacting Redford surrounded here by computer-printout people in a chintzily reupholstered old plot. I hope Redford is back into something more than the exercise of stardom and muscles in his forthcoming Watergate film with Dustin Hoffman.

White Line Fever (Columbia). A small phenomenon. It was released widely

Films Worth Seeing

Coonskin. Ralph Bakshi's cartoon-live treatment of race-riven New York. Weak story, but bitter, bawdy, sometimes brilliant execution.

Nashville. The country-music scene as America in not-so-little. Smooth and clever enough, less deep than it wants us to think it.

Smile. It's redundant to satirize beauty contests. But the cast and Michael Ritchie's direction are good.

The Wilby Conspiracy. Political thriller, South Africa. Fair-to-muddling plot, but three good actors—Poitier, Caine, Williamson—and some bright dialogue.

SK